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Additional documents for this item:  

Interim Financial Management Update for the period 1 January 2025 to 31 March 2025 
(UNAIDS/PCB (56)/25.12). 
 
Action required at this meeting – the Programme Coordinating Board is invited to:  

▪ Accept the financial report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024. 

▪ Take note that the current Fund Balance levels are not sufficient to fund the 
restructuring process in 2025 or 2026.   

▪ Recall decision 20 of the PCB in May 1998 approving the rules and procedures 
guiding the use of the Operating Reserve Fund.  

▪ Approve the proposal of the Executive Director to draw such amounts as 
deemed necessary, from the operating reserve fund, up to a maximum of US$15 
million, to cover the immediate financial requirements of the UNAIDS Secretariat 
restructuring and to replenish such amounts by 31 December 2027.  

Cost implications for decisions: none 
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Part I: Introduction 

 
1. In accordance with the Programme Coordinating Board Modus Operandi, Function 5 (vi) of the Joint 

United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), the UNAIDS Secretariat is submitting the financial 
report for the year ended 31 December 2024 to the Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) for review and 
approval, as per established procedures. 
 

2. The financial statements, accounting policies, and notes to the financial statements have been prepared 
in compliance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) and in accordance with 
the Financial Regulations and Rules of the World Health Organization (WHO). 

 
3. This is the 13th year that UNAIDS financial statements have been prepared based on IPSAS, which 

continues to enhance transparency, increase accountability and improve the financial reporting of 
UNAIDS.  

 
4. Managerial accountability, transparency and risk management are key aspects of the reform agenda in 

UNAIDS, and progress continues in this regard. In line with the best practice a Statement of Internal 
Control (SIC) is included in the audited financial statements. The SIC is a public accountability document 
signed by the Executive Director, describing the effectiveness of UNAIDS internal controls and provides 
details of any significant control issues and risks during the year, and actions taken in response. The SIC 
will continue to be reviewed each year to assure stakeholders and demonstrate accountability.   

 
5. The implementation of IPSAS does not currently impact on the preparation of the Unified Budget, Results 

and Accountability Framework (UBRAF), which continues to be prepared on a modified cash basis. As 
this basis differs from the accrual basis applied to the financial statements, reconciliation between the 
budget and the principal financial statements is provided in accordance with the requirements of IPSAS. 
 

6. Highlights of revenue, expenses, net assets/equity, assets and liabilities of the Programme are supplied, 
as are information on cash flow, liquidity and equity. This is done to provide a complete picture of the 
financial position of UNAIDS, as at 31 December 2024. 

 
Approved budget and work plan 

7. The 2022–2026 UBRAF provides the operational framework for the contribution of UNAIDS to the 
implementation of the Global AIDS Strategy, endorsed by the Board at its 48th meeting.  

 
8. The central focus of the 2022–2026 UBRAF is the urgent need to further leverage the strengths, 

capacities and comparative advantages of the Joint Programme to support countries and communities to 
reduce the inequalities that undermine service access and utilization, leave people living with HIV, at risk 
and affected by HIV and that fuel the AIDS epidemic.  

 
9. This second biennial Workplan and Budget under the 2022–2026 UBRAF covers the years 2024 and 

2025. Carrying forward the strategic directions set out in the UBRAF, the 2024–2025 Workplan and 
Budget provides further details about the priority actions and deliverables the Joint Programme will 
undertake and the related budget towards each of the 10 result areas at output level, as outlined in the 
UBRAF. 

 
10. At its 52nd meeting, the PCB approved the 2024–2025 Workplan (UNAIDS/PCB (52)/23.13) against the 

core budget base of US$ 187 million up to the threshold of US$ 210 million annually. 
 

11. The approved annual core budget of US$ 210 million is comprised as follows: an annual allocation of 
US$ 146 million to resource the UNAIDS Secretariat to deliver on its functions and enable continued 
support in about 85 countries; and an annual allocation of US$ 64 million for Cosponsors for core 
functions, global strategic initiatives and country envelopes: 

 

▪ a total of US$ 22 million to all Cosponsors (US$ 2 million to each) to offer a degree of predictability 
for fulfilling their respective role in relation to the Joint Programme;  
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▪ US$ 11 million for global strategic initiatives to amplify efforts in key programmatic areas; and  

▪ US$ 31 million to Cosponsors at country level in the form of country envelopes to support populations 
in greatest need. 
 

12. Due to an unpromising financial outlook for 2024, similar to 2023, and a fund balance below the minimum 
level, a cautiously optimistic funding scenario of US$ 160 million was approved, pending additional 
contributions (i.e. US$ 27 million less than the threshold of the approved base budget of US$ 187 million). 
The reduction of US$ 14 million for the Secretariat and US$ 13 million for the Cosponsors resulted in the 
Secretariat operating with a smaller budget of US$ 126 million instead of US$ 140 million and the 
Cosponsors with a budget of US$ 34 million instead of US$ 47 million.  

 
 Revenue 
 
13. Total revenue (including finance revenue) for the year ended 2024 for both core and non-core funds was 

US$ 233 million (compared to US$ 219.8 million for 2023). This represents an increase of US$ 13.2 
million (6 per cent) when compared to total funds mobilized in 2023. 
 

14. Of this amount, US$ 149 million (US$ 161.5 million in 2023) was made available towards the core UBRAF 
and US$ 84 million (US$ 58.3 million in 2023) to the UBRAF non-core funds. The UBRAF non-core funds 
were made available to UNAIDS to provide support to several global, regional and country activities and 
are designated for specific regions, countries or purposes. Table 1 provides details of revenue for 2024 
and 2023. 

 
Table 1. Details of revenue: all funds (in US dollars) 

 

 
 

15. As summarized in Table 1, revenue totaling US$ 149 million was mobilized and made available towards 
the core UBRAF. This represented 93% of resource mobilization target of US$ 160 million for the year 
2024, resulting in a shortfall of $11 million.  
 

16. Figure 1 (below) provides details of revenue received from UNAIDS’s main donors towards the core 
UBRAF for the year 2024 and Figure 2 (below) provides details of revenue received from UNAIDS’s main 
donors towards both the core and non-core UBRAF for the year 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2024

Governments     143  880 026     152  866 741     73  384 737     50  623 312     217  264 763     203  490 053

Cosponsoring organizations -                    -                          2  853 819     2  332 649     2  853 819     2  332 649

Others       25 853       35 320     5  115 604     7  750 093     5  141 457     7  785 413

Miscellaneous       539 295       477 671       502 757       294 950     1  042 052       772 621

Sub-total operating revenue     144  445 174     153  379 732     81  856 917     61  001 004     226  302 091     214  380 736

Finance revenue/(cost)     4  564 907     8  125 204     2  167 127 (2 678 052)     6  732 034     5  447 152

Grand Total     149  010 081     161  504 936     84  024 044     58  322 952     233  034 125     219  827 888

Revenue

2023 2023 202320242024

UBRAF Core Funds UBRAF Non-Core  Funds TOTAL
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Figure 1. Details of revenue received from main donors towards the core Unified Budget, 
Results and Accountability Framework for the year 2024 (US$ million) 
 

 
 
 

Figure 2. Details of revenue received from main donors towards both the core and non-core UBRAF, 
2024 (US$ million) 
     

 
 
 
Expenses 
 
17. Total expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to US$ 226.4 million (compared to US$ 

229 million for 2023), of which:  

▪ US$ 157.9 million related to expenses against the core UBRAF for 2024–2025;  

▪ US$ 72.3 million was for expenses under the UBRAF non-core funds;  

▪ adjustments under other funds of US$ 0.6 million; and  
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▪ US$ (4.3) million was for additional accrual under the After-Service Health Insurance Fund (ASHI), 
Terminal Payments and Special Fund for Compensation based on the actuarial study and in 
accordance with IPSAS 39 (Employee Benefits). Table 2 provides details of expense by fund type 
for 2024 and 2023. 

 

Table 2. Details of expense: all funds (in US dollars)  

 
 
18. Through initiatives and measures put in place to reduce costs and increase cost-effectiveness and 

efficiency the Secretariat expenses stayed within its reduced prioritized share of the core UBRAF (i.e. 
US$ 126 million against US$ 146 million in the approved core budget). The 2024 Secretariat core UBRAF 
expenses and encumbrances amounted to US$ 126 million and are at a level similar to the 2023 amount 
of US$ 125.9 million.   
 

19. The 2024 expenses of US$ 226.4 million represented a decrease of US$ 2.5 million from US$ 229 million, 
for the year ended 2023. This is reflected in Table 3 and Figure 3 (below), which show an increase in 
costs of US$ 4.6 million under the staff expense category. 

 
20. The expenses in 2024 for the categories of transfers and grants to counterparts’, contractual services 

and operating expenses, compared to those of 2023, represented decreases of US$ 1.1. million, US$ 
4.5 million and US$ 2.5 million respectively. Expenses under “equipment, furniture and vehicles” were at 
similar levels to 2023 at US$ 0.6 million, while there was an increase of US$ 0.9 million in travel expenses 
and US$ 0.1 million in depreciation.  

 
21. The increase of US$ 4.5 million in staff costs is attributable to the increase in core and non-core funded 

positions, as well as one-time payments to staff who opted for separation under mutual agreements during 
the 2021 alignment exercise.  

 
Transfers and grants to counterparts in 2024 were in line with those of 2023, with only a 2% decrease 
from US$ 65.8 million to US$ 64.7 million. 
 

22. The decrease in contractual services expenditures, from US$ 41.4 million in 2023 to US$ 36.9 million in 
2024, is a result of cost-reduction measures and efforts to enhance the cost-effectiveness and operational 
efficiency of the Secretariat.  

 
Travel expense increased to US$ 6.3 million in 2024 from US$ 5.4 million in 2023. The increase in 2024 
compared to 2023 reflects a gradual return to in-person meetings, mainly funded through non-core 
funding for projects; while the expanded use of video conferencing, monitoring and internal controls, 
ensured the 2024 expenditure remained below the pre-covid level of US$ 7.8 million in 2019.  
 

  

Expenditure 2024 2023

UBRAF core funds     157  876 266     157  957 349

UBRAF Non-core funds     72  258 912     74  496 099

Other funds       628 717 (1 958 338)

Sub-total     230  763 895     230  495 110

Adjustment to accrual for staff benefits (4 322 104) (1 522 092)

Total Expense     226  441 791     228  973 018
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Table 3. Details of expense by category (in US dollars) 

 

 

 

 
Figure 3. Details of expense by major category for year 2024 and 2023  
                (in millions of US dollars)   

 
Fund balance 

 
23. The nature of UNAIDS as a voluntary funded programme requires a fund balance that serves as working 

capital to initiate and implement activities pending receipt of firm pledges/contributions. To ensure 
continuity of joint programme activities from one year to the next, a sufficient fund balance at the end of 
each year is necessary to ensure the smooth start up and implementation of the UBRAF in the following 
year/biennium. 

 
24. At its 26th meeting, held in Geneva from 22–24 June 2010, the PCB approved a maximum level for the 

UBRAF net fund balance, set at to 35% of the UNAIDS biennial budget equivalent to US$ 170 million). 
Subsequently, during its 36th meeting, held in Geneva from 30 June to 2 July 2015, the Board approved 
a minimum level for the net fund balance, equivalent to 22% of the biennial budget (US$ 107 million at 

Expense 2024

Staff and other personnel costs     105  744 260     101  152 485     4  591 775

Transfers and grants to counterparts     64  736 174     65  807 351 (1 071 177)

Contractual services     36  901 309     41  424 966 (4 523 657)

General operating expenses     11  438 411     13  980 906 (2 542 495)

Travel     6  288 587     5  382 101       906 486

Equipment, furniture and vehicles       584 435       588 439 ( 4 004)

Depreciation       748 616       636 769       111 847

Total Expenses     226  441 792     228  973 018 (2 531 226)

Increase/

(decrease)
2023
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that time). Most recently, at its 54th meeting, held in Geneva from 25–27 June 2024, the board reaffirmed 
decision point 7.7 from its 36th meeting, maintaining the minimum UBRAF net fund balance at 22% of 
the biennial budget. This corresponds to US$ 70 million based on the revised 2024–2025 operating 
biennial budget of US$ 320 million. 

 
25. At 31 December 2024, the net fund balance of the UBRAF stood at US$ 107 million or 33.4% of the 

biennial budget1 (compared to US$ 91 million or 28.4% at 31 December 2023). This is above the minimum 
level of US$ 70 million of the biennial budget as reaffirmed by PCB in June 2024. 

 
26. The net fund balance of the UBRAF at 31 December 2024 exceeded the approved minimum level by US$ 

37 million and represents an increase of US$ 16 million compared to the balance of US$ 91 million at 31 
December 2023. This increase was primarily due to the return of US$ 25.1 million originally transferred 

to cover the organizational staff-related liabilities back to the core fund balance. This action was 

approved by the PCB. 
 

It should be noted that the fund balance of the UBRAF is the Joint Programme’s working capital. It enables 
the UNAIDS Secretariat to provide funding to the joint programme activities before donors remit funds to 
UNAIDS. This ensures the Joint Programme operations can continue uninterrupted while waiting for new 
contributions from donors. Although the level of the fund balance as at 31 December 2024 is above the 
minimum level established by the PCB most recently, the balance provides essential funding to the 
Secretariat at a time when the level of donor contributions for 2025 is uncertain. The Secretariat will 
continue to monitor the fund balance and intensify the mobilization of resources to ensure the fund 
balance is maintained at a level that enables the effective implementation of the UBRAF. 

 
Figure 4. Management of the Core fund balance for the financial years 2017 to 2024 

         (in millions of US dollars)   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

 
1 In addition to the expense of US$ 157.7 million in 2024 under the 2024–2025 UBRAF, US$ 2.5 million was encumbered during 2024 (representing 
firm commitments of goods and services to be delivered in 2025). As a result, the net fund balance as at 31 December 2024 under the UBRAF to 
cover 2025 UBRAF activities was US$ 106.9 million (US$ 109.4 million less with US$ 2.5 million reserved for 2024 encumbrances). 
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Part II: 2024 Statement of Internal Control 
 
Scope of responsibility 
 
As Executive Director of the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), I am accountable, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me, in particular, Financial Regulation 12.1, for maintaining 
a sound system of internal control to “ensure the accomplishment of established objectives and goals for 
operations; the economical and efficient use of resources; the reliability and integrity of information; 
compliance with policies, plans, procedures, rules and regulations; and the safeguarding of assets.” 
 
Purpose of internal control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to reduce and manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve the UNAIDS Secretariat’s objectives and related policies. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. It is an ongoing process designed to identify the principal risks, 
evaluate the nature and extent of those risks, and to manage them efficiently, effectively, and economically. 
 
Internal control is a process, effected by the PCB, the Executive Director, senior management and other 
personnel, and designed to provide reasonable assurance on the achievement of the following objectives: 

▪ effectiveness and efficiency of operations and safeguarding of assets; 

▪ reliability of financial reporting; and 

▪ compliance with applicable regulations and rules. 

From an operational perspective, UNAIDS’s internal control system operates continually at all levels of the 
Secretariat through internal control processes to ensure the above objectives are met. 
 
My current statement on UNAIDS’s internal control processes, as described above, applies for the year ended 
31 December 2024, and up to the date of the approval of the Organization’s 2024 annual financial statements. 

 
UNAIDS operating environment 
 
UNAIDS operates in challenging environments and is therefore exposed to situations with a high level of 
inherent risk, including in terms of the security of its employees and, in some cases, its ability to maintain the 
highest standards of internal control. The security situation in each country in which UNAIDS (and the United 
Nations in general) operates is closely monitored, and strategic decisions are taken where necessary to adapt 
UNAIDS’s operations and to manage and mitigate the risk exposure of its personnel. All risks are captured 
in a formal risk register and are subject to regular review by managers. 
 
The internal control framework and risk management 
 
UNAIDS’s Management Accountability Framework operates in tandem with the Risk Management 
Framework and the Internal Control Framework. These frameworks are critical to the accomplishment of the 
Joint Programme’s objectives and goals with enhanced accountability and greater transparency. 
 
The risk management framework aims to embed a systematic and effective approach to identifying, 
assessing and managing risks and opportunities. Senior Management have identified the high-level risks and 
opportunities which have been compiled into a UNAIDS Risk Universe. Department, Regional, Liaison and 
Country Office Directors/Managers develop risk registers, including mitigating action plans, based on their 
risk analysis. Quality assurance of registers is undertaken prior to their evaluation by the Risk Committee. 
 
In addition to a set of rules, procedures and processes, the internal control framework comprises mechanisms 
for assessing its overall effectiveness. On an annual basis, managers with delegated financial and 
administrative authorities, complete a Self-Assessment checklist to assess and monitor the overall internal 
controls, as well as the key functional control areas, across their respective Offices or Department. Results 
of the self-assessment checklists are analysed considering recurrent audit findings and top risks identified to 
feed into an overall review of effectiveness and continuous improvement action plans.  
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Review of the effectiveness of internal control 
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is mainly informed by: 

▪ My senior managers, particularly Deputy Executive Directors, Regional Support Team and Liaison Office 
Directors, Country Office Directors, Department and Functional Directors, who play important roles and 
are accountable for results, performance, controlling activities under their purview and the resources 
entrusted to them. 

▪ I derive assurance from the representation letters signed by the Regional Directors and Deputy Executive 
Directors. These letters confirm the importance of ensuring that adequate internal controls are in place, 
along with other assurances. 

▪ The internal control self-assessment checklist completed by managers. The consolidated results of the 
2024 self-assessment exercise deemed internal controls to be adequate overall. Areas for improvement, 
shown in both the self-assessments and audit findings, relate to assurance activities in the management 
of implementing partners and agreements, completeness of procurement documentation, development 
and update of business continuity plans, physical verification of assets and timely update of the register 
of assets, and risk management. Actions taken to address these areas for improvement as well as 
recurrent audit findings are presented to the Programme Coordinating Board in the Management 
Response to Oversight Reports.  

▪ The risk assessments completed by managers. The 2024 exercise deemed that the top risks in terms of 
occurrence relate to political, human resources, funding and programmatic risks.  

▪ Reports issued by the Office of Internal Oversight, which include independent and objective information 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of UNAIDS’s system of internal controls together with 
recommendations for improvement. The major findings from internal audit reports are summarized in the 
annual report of the Internal Auditor to the Programme Coordinating Board. 

▪ Reports issued by the External Auditor that provide an independent oversight and reporting on UNAIDS’ 
compliance with financial regulations and rules. The External Auditor presents an update of its work and 
key findings to the Programme Coordinating Board. 

▪ The Programme Coordinating Board’s observations. 

▪ The work of the Independent Expert Oversight Advisory Committee which recommendations contribute 
to strengthen accountability and oversight within UNAIDS. 

 
Significant risk issues noted 
 
After departments, regional and country offices completed their risk register in 2024, the consolidated findings 
were reviewed by the Risk Management Committee and endorsed by senior management. Some of the key 
risks currently facing the Organization are summarized below.  
 
Whilst the top risks identified in previous years remain valid, declining financial contributions to the Joint 
Programme have diminished the resources available to deliver on set objectives and increase risks to their 
attainment. Remedial measures to support strategic prioritization and to adapt to the new funding landscape.     
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Top risks Examples of ongoing or planned mitigation activities 

Changing agenda and priorities of strategic 
partners, including Cosponsors and other 
stakeholders, diminished focus on HIV 
response. 

• Increase advocacy efforts, engaging with governments, 
decision-makers and donors in countries and at the global 
level. 

• Deliver strong and consistent messaging, both internally and 
externally on top priorities. 

Insufficient financing to ensure a fully funded 
UBRAF (core and non-core funds) hinder 
operations and capacity to fully deliver on 
objectives. 

• Continue resource mobilisation efforts in close collaboration 
with Cosponsors and partners 

• Continue advocacy with donors and Governments to increase 
external and domestic resources for HIV. 

• Revised operating structure of the Secretariat responding to the 
High-Level Panel recommendations, new funding landscape 
and strategic prioritization.  

Globally/regionally significant health, 
geopolitical and/or security crises, growing 
conservatism, affect continuity of HIV services 
and result in: disruptions in HIV prevention, 
testing and treatment programmes; increased 
human rights crises, gender inequalities 
including gender-based violence; and 
inequitable access to HIV services slower 
progress to close gaps in access to HIV 
services. 

• Continue to spearhead innovations in service delivery and new 
technologies so that HIV services can be sustained through 
disruptive periods. 

• Continue to support the development of contingency and 
continuity plans that include essential HIV services, including 
supply and management of stocks of HIV- related supplies and 
drugs.  

 

Revision to UNAIDS footprint results in the loss 
of qualified, motivated, and adequately trained 
human resources, reducing UNAIDS’s ability to 
respond to emerging needs and to deliver 
mandate and stated results. 

• Provide resources to ensure critical functions are filled in a 
timely manner. 

• Provide adequate induction of new staff, preservation and 
sharing of institutional knowledge (knowledge management). 

UNAIDS workforces are affected by security 
and safety incidents. Staff well-being and 
mental health are impacted by environmental 
and organizational factors of stress. 

• Ensure compliance with UNDSS recommendations to mitigate 
risks to staff. 

• Fulfil duty-of-care obligations to staff and provide staff with 
information and access to services to promote and protect 
mental health and well-being. 

Risk of cybersecurity attacks significantly 
compromise critical information systems, digital 
assets or critical data leading to discontinuity of 
operations, financial losses, litigations or 
reputational damage. 

• Monitor threats and ensure incident response and 
preparedness. 

• Continue to implement measures to strengthen security level. 

Inability to prevent, detect and manage cases 
of sexual exploitation, abuse and harassment 
and other forms of misconduct thereby harm 
people and affects the reputation of the 
Organization. 

• Monitor mandatory training to ensure completion of mandatory 
training and awareness-raising on preventing and addressing 
abusive conduct and sexual exploitation. 

• Country-level Sexual Exploitation Abuse and Sexual 
Harassment/Sexual Misconduct (SEAH/SM) risk assessment. 

• Undertake background checks of prospective staff members 
using ClearCheck and online footprint checks. 

• Undertake SEAH assessment of all implementing partners and 
prevention of SEAH safeguards in all their contracts. 

UNAIDS experiences disruptions and/or delays 
in operations due to ineffective roll out of BMS, 
as the newly designed processes do not 
sufficiently cater for UNAIDS’s operations and 
organizational specificities, and users are not 
adequately trained and supported post-roll out. 

• Provide leadership and guidance to ensure UNAIDS is actively 
engaging in the BMS project through participation in steering 
and other BMS project meetings with WHO and other hosted 
entities, exchange of information with technical and functional 
teams involved in the project, and effective planning of roll out 
activities. 

• Identify and train BMS support focal points from multiple 
branches/regions to support post-roll out operations. 
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Statement 
 
Internal control, while operating effectively, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of circumvention, 
no matter how well designed, and therefore can provide only reasonable assurance. Furthermore, because 
of changes of conditions, the effectiveness of internal control may vary over time.  
 
I am committed to addressing any weaknesses in internal controls that may be noted during the year and 
brought to my attention. 
 
Based on the above, I conclude that, to the best of my knowledge and information, there are no material 
weaknesses that would prevent the external auditor from providing an unqualified opinion on UNAIDS 
financial statements, nor are there other significant matters arising that would need to be raised in the present 
document for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of approval of the financial statements.  
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Geneva, 28 March 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Top risks Examples of ongoing or planned mitigation activities 

Fraud and corruption may be committed by 
staff and non-staff due to weak or inadequate 
internal controls or vulnerable external 
business environments. 

• Raise awareness on fraud prevention, detection and response 
mechanisms and processes (e.g. mandatory training on fraud 
prevention). 

• Address allegations of fraud are in a timely manner. 
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Part III: Financial statements, schedules and notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 
December 2024 

This section of the financial report presents the overall financial position of UNAIDS as of and for the year 
ended 31 December 2024. The relevant financial statements, accompanying notes and supporting schedules 
have been prepared in compliance with the requirements of the WHO Financial Regulations, Financial Rules 
and the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The schedules provide background 
details and explanations in support of individual funds and accounts administered by UNAIDS, through the 
WHO financial systems, for the year ended 31 December 2024. 

 
Certification of financial statements 

 
Certification of financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 
 
The financial statements, accounting policies and notes to the financial statements have been prepared in 
compliance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The financial statements are also 
prepared in accordance with the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of WHO, which provides 
administration in support of UNAIDS as per ECOSOC resolution 1994/24, and Article XI of the Memorandum 
of Understanding among Cosponsors establishing UNAIDS.  
 
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, together with the notes to the statements 
and supporting schedules are approved. 

 
 

 

 

 
 
Geneva, 28 March 2025 
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Opinion of the External Auditor
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The statement of significant accounting policies and the accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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The statement of significant accounting policies and the accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.2 
 

 

 
2 Due to the reduced level of funds mobilized in 2024, the internal 2024–2025 Joint Programme operating budget was set at US$ 
160 million per annum (US$ 34 million for Cosponsors and US$ 126 million for the Secretariat). The implementation rate against 
the operating budget is 100% for Cosponsors and 98.2% for the Secretariat. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
1. Statement of objectives 

 
The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) was established through the Economic and 
Social Council (ECOSOC) Resolution 1994/24 of 26 July 1994 to “undertake a joint and co-sponsored United 
Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS on the basis of co-ownership, collaborative planning and execution, and 
an equitable sharing of responsibility”. UNAIDS currently consists of 11 United Nations (UN) organizations 
referred to as Cosponsors.3 
 
The Programme is headed by an Executive Director, appointed by the UN Secretary-General upon the 
recommendation of the Cosponsors, who reports to the PCB which serves as the governing board of the 
Programme. 
 
The objectives of UNAIDS are contained in the Memorandum of Understanding among Cosponsors 
establishing UNAIDS and in the ECOSOC resolutions 1994/24 and 1995/2. 
 
The objectives of UNAIDS were further refined and updated in UNAIDS new vision and mission statement 
which were endorsed by the UNAIDS PCB at its 26th meeting held in Geneva, from 22–24 June 2010. These 
are:  

▪ Uniting efforts of the UN, civil society, governments, the private sector, global institutions and people 
living with and most affected by HIV;  

▪ Speaking out in solidarity with the people most affected by HIV in defence of human dignity, human 
rights and gender equality;  

▪ Mobilizing resources (political, technical, scientific and financial) and holding ourselves and others 
accountable for results;  

▪ Empowering agents of change with strategic information and evidence to influence and ensuring that 
resources are targeted where they deliver the greatest impact; and  

▪ Supporting inclusive country leadership for sustainable responses that are integral to and integrated 
with national health and development efforts. 

 
2. Basis of preparation and presentation 

 
The accounts of UNAIDS are maintained in accordance with the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules 
of WHO, which provides administration in support of UNAIDS as per ECOSOC Resolution 1994/24 and 
Article XI of the Memorandum of Understanding among Cosponsors establishing UNAIDS. The accounting 
policies and financial reporting practices applied by UNAIDS are therefore based upon the WHO Financial 
Regulations and Financial Rules.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual and going concern basis and in accordance with 
the requirements of IPSAS using the historical cost convention. Investments and loans are however recorded 
at fair value or amortized cost. Where a specific matter is not covered by IPSAS, the appropriate International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) have been applied. 
 
The financial statements and notes are presented in United States dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest US dollar, or as stated. 
 
Financial period 

 
The Programme’s financial period for budgetary purposes is a biennium consisting of two consecutive years. 
The financial statements are prepared annually. 
 
 
 

 
3 When UNAIDS was established in 1994, the Joint Programme consisted of six UN system organizations: UNDP, UNICEF, UNFPA, WHO, 

UNESCO and the World Bank. Since then, a further five UN agencies have become UNAIDS Cosponsors: UNODC, ILO, WFP, UNHCR and UN 
Women. 
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Functional currency and translation of foreign currencies 
 

The functional and reporting currency of the Programme is United States dollar. 
 

The foreign currency transactions are translated into United States dollars at the prevailing UN Operational 
Rate of Exchange, which approximates to the exchange rates at the dates of the transaction. The Operational 
Rates of Exchange are set once a month and revised mid-month if there are significant exchange rate 
fluctuations relating to individual currencies. 
 
Assets and liabilities in currencies other than United States dollars are translated into United States dollars 
at the prevailing UN Operational Rates of Exchange year-end closing rate. Resulting gains or losses are 
accounted for in the Statement of Financial Performance. 
  
Materiality and the use of judgements and estimates 
 
Materiality is central for the preparation of UNAIDS financial statements.  The process for reviewing 
accounting materiality provides a systematic approach to the identification, analysis, evaluation, endorsement 
and periodic review of decisions taken involving the materiality of information spread over numerous areas 
of accounting.  
 
The financial statements include amounts based on judgement, estimates and assumptions by the 
management. Changes in estimates are reflected in the period they become known. Estimates include, but 
are not limited to, defined benefit medical insurance and other post-employment benefit obligations (the value 
of which is calculated by an independent actuary), financial risk on accounts receivable accrued charges and 
the degree of impairment of fixed assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
Financial statements 
 
In accordance with IPSAS 1, a complete set of financial statements has been prepared as follows: 

▪ Statement of Financial Position, 

▪ Statement of Financial Performance, 

▪ Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity, 

▪ Statement of Cash Flow, 

▪ Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts, and 

▪ Notes to the financial statements, comprising a description of the basis of preparation and presentation 
of the statements, a summary of significant accounting policies, and other relevant information. 

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in the preparation of the financial 
statements throughout the period. 
 
Future accounting changes 
 
The IPSAS Board has published the following new and amended standards: 

Standard Title Effective date Anticipated impact in year of adoption 

IPSAS 43 Leases 1 January 2025 

Supersedes IPSAS 13 (Leases) and introduces the right-of-
use model for lessees. On the basis of the right-of-use model, 
once the new standard has been adopted and the expiration 
of the validity of any transitional provisions has expired, most 
leases will be required to be capitalized, resulting in an 
increase in the amount of capitalized assets and the recording 
of related lease liabilities. annual financial performance is 
expected to be broadly neutral as depreciation of leased 
assets and interest costs on the related lease liabilities will 
replace the currently recorded lease expenses.  
 
The impact of IPSAS 43 on the financial statements of 
WHO/UNAIDS upon adoption, including the impact of 
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consequential amendments to other standards, is currently 
being assessed. 

IPSAS 45 
Property, plant 
and equipment 

1 January 2025 

This standard was developed to update principles drawn from 
IPSAS 17 – Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE), adding new 
guidance for heritage assets, infrastructure assets and 
measurement of PPE. The impact of elements of IPSAS 45 
relating to heritage assets and the measurement of assets 
acquired through non-exchange transactions on the financial 
statements of UNAIDS is currently being assessed 

IPSAS 46 Measurement 1 January 2025 

This standard was developed to help improve measurement 
guidance across IPSAS. WHO/UNAIDS is currently assessing 
the impact of IPSAS 46 on the relevant areas of the financial 
statements. 

IPSAS 47 Revenue 1 January 2026 

This standard sets out the accounting requirements for 
revenue transactions in the public sector and replaces IPSAS 
9, 11 and 23. One major impact of the standard is that for all 
earmarked contributions, revenue recognition will be deferred 
until the agency meets its obligations.  
 
UNAIDS does not have earmarked contributions. Therefore 
the impact of this standard on UNAIDS will be limited since it 
will only affect the voluntary contributions revenue which is 
being recognized upon signature of the relevant agreement. 
UNAIDS is currently assessing the full impact of IPSAS 47 on 
the relevant areas of financial statements.  

IPSAS 48 Transfer expenses 1 January 2026 

This standard sets out the accounting requirements for 
expenses arising from a transaction, other than taxes, in which 
an entity provides a good, service or other asset to another 
entity, without directly receiving any good, service or other 
asset in return. 
 
UNAIDS is reviewing the changes within the standard, which 
is expected to significantly impact the timing of recognition of 
expenses under Direct Financial Cooperation, Grant Letter of 
Agreement and Direct Implementation modalities in the 
UNAIDS financial statements. UNAIDS expects that there will 
be sufficient time for implementation and that such 

implementation will require additional resources. 

IPSAS 49 
Retirement benefit 
plans 

1 January 2025 

This standard covers accounting and reporting requirements 
for public sector retirement benefit plans to improve the 
transparency and accountability of those plans. 
 
UNAIDS is a member of the UN Joint Staff Pension Fund 
(UNJSPF), a separate legal and reporting entity where the 
changes required by the standard are most applicable. The 
impact of this standard on the UNAIDS financial statements is 
therefore anticipated to be very limited and any potential 
changes will be aligned with other UN entities. 

 
 
3. Significant accounting policies 

 
3.1 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits in transit, cash in bank and balances held by 
WHO on behalf of UNAIDS. These balances are held centrally by WHO and invested on behalf of UNAIDS 
in accordance with WHO’s rules and practices. UNAIDS has adopted the disclosure notes of WHO to reflect 
the accounting policies for investments. 

 
3.2 Investments and financial instruments held by WHO 
 
Financial instruments are recognized when WHO/UNAIDS becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument until such time when the rights to receive cash flows from those assets have expired or 
have been transferred and WHO/UNAIDS has substantially transferred all the risks and rewards of 
ownership.  
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The principles of IPSAS 41 in relation to the financial reporting of financial assets have been applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements. In that respect the following criteria have been considered when 
determining the classification and measurement of the financial assets and liabilities: 

(a) the business model for managing the financial assets and liabilities; and  

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets and liabilities. 

These classification criteria determine which of the measurement bases to apply under IPSAS 41 for each 
category of financial asset or liability: amortized cost, fair value through net assets/equity, or fair value 
through surplus or deficit. 

The financial assets and liabilities have been reclassified under IPSAS 41 as follows: 

 

Before the application of IPSAS 41 Under IPSAS 41 Examples 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through surplus or deficit for 
trading 

 

Financial assets at fair value through 
surplus or deficit upon initial 
recognition 

Financial assets at fair 
value through surplus or 
deficit 

 

Fixed income securities (e.g. bonds, certificates of 
deposit, etc.) and derivative instruments (e.g. 
foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate 
swaps, etc.). 

 

Bank deposits and receivables Financial assets at 
amortized cost 

Term deposits, interest receivables, tax 
recoverable, other amounts to be received from 
investments (e.g. amounts to be received in respect 
of assets previously sold). 

Payables and accruals Financial liabilities at 
amortized cost 

Interest payables, other amounts to be paid for 
investments (e.g. amounts to be paid in respect of 
assets previously purchased). 

 

Financial assets at amortized cost are those financial instruments that are held under the business model 
objective to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows (rather than to sell the instrument prior to 
its contractual maturity to realise its fair value changes), where the contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through net assets/equity (FVNAE) are those financial instruments which 
are held under a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets, where the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows which are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit (FVSD) are other 
financial instruments which are not classified as either at amortized cost or at FVNAE. None of the WHO 
financial assets or liabilities has been classified as at FVNAE.  

 
Under IPSAS 41, a single forward-looking impairment model is applied, which requires the recognition of 
expected credit losses at all times.  
 
The minimum credit rating set in the WHO Investment Policy for any investment is A-/A3. The IPSAS 41 
impairment model was applied to those financial assets that are classified as at amortized cost, specifically 
the term deposits and the bank account balances. The calculation of expected credit losses for the term 
deposits and for the bank balances yielded figures which were not material in the context of these financial 
statements, and they are therefore not disclosed. 

 
3.3 Accounts receivable 
 
Accounts receivables are recorded at their estimated net realizable value after providing for allowances for 
non-recovery and after careful review of the outstanding receivable. Current receivables are for amounts due 
within 12 months of the reporting date, while non-current receivables are due more than 12 months from the 
reporting date of the financial statements. 
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An allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is recognized when there is a risk that the receivable may be 
impaired. Changes in allowance for doubtful accounts receivable are recognized in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. 
 
3.4  Inventories 
 
UNAIDS inventory only comprises of publications on handheld for distribution, free of cost, and has no value.   
 

3.5 Prepayments and deposits 
 
Prepayments relate to amounts paid to suppliers for goods and services not yet received. Advances are 
made to UNDP to cover payments made on behalf of UNAIDS in accordance with the “Working Arrangement 
between the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and the Joint United Nations Programme on 
HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) covering the provision of administrative support services by UNDP”, signed in April 1996 
and updated in June 2008. Deposits relate to amounts paid as security for the leasing of office space. 
Prepayments and deposits are recorded at cost. 
 

3.6 Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) 
 
Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) with a value of US$ 5 000 and above are recognized as non-current 
assets in the Statement of Financial Position. They are initially recognized at cost, unless acquired through 
a non-exchange transaction, in which case they are recognized at fair value at the date of acquisition. PP&E 
is stated at historical costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Heritage assets have not been 
valued and are not considered in the financial statements. 

 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 
asset and are included in the Statement of Financial Performance. Impairment reviews are undertaken for all 
PP&E annually and all losses are recognized in the Statement of Financial Performance. Impairment 
indicators also include the obsolescence and deterioration of PP&E. 

 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life, except for land, which is not 
subject to depreciation. PP&E are reviewed annually for impairment. Given the expected pattern of usage of 
PP&E, there are no residual values following full depreciation. The depreciation start date depends on the 
date placed in service. When equipment is placed in service between the 1st and the 15th of the month, a 
full month of depreciation is recognized for that month and when equipment is placed in service from the 16th 
of the month, depreciation is recognized from the following month to ensure that the carrying amount is still 
considered to be recoverable. The estimated useful lives of the asset classes that make up property, plant 
and equipment are provided in the table below. 
 

 

Asset Class
Estimated Useful 

Life  (in years)

Land N/A

Buildings - Permanent 60

Buildings - Mobile 5

Fixtures and fittings 5

Vehicles and transport 5

Office equipment 3

Communications equipment 3

Audio Visual equipment 3

Computer equipment 3

Network equipment 3

Security equipment 3

Other equipment 3
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Improvements are capitalized over the remaining life of the asset when the improvement results in an 
increase in the useful life of the asset or adds usable space. The residual value of the asset and the cost of 
the improvement will be amortized over the adjusted useful life (remaining life). Normal repair and 
maintenance costs are expensed in the year when the costs are incurred. 
 
3.7 Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment. UNAIDS only recognizes 
intangible assets if the useful life of the asset is more than one year and the value is above US$ 100 000. 
Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated 
useful life of “software acquired externally” is two to six years.  
 
Intangible assets are assumed to have a residual value of zero, as intangible assets are not sold or 
transferred at the end of their useful life. Intangible assets are reviewed annually for impairment.  

 
3.8 Leases 
 
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee (the Organization), in return for a payment 
or series of payments, the right to use an asset for an agreed period. Every lease is reviewed to determine 
whether it constitutes a finance or operating lease.  

Lease agreements entered into for equipment or office premises are classified as operating leases unless 
they substantially transfer all of the risk and reward of ownership. Lease charges for operating leases are 
recognized in the Statement of Financial Performance as general operating expenses, based on the terms 
of the agreements for the period concerned so as to reflect the time pattern of benefit to UNAIDS. 
 
Where UNAIDS is the lessor, lease revenue from operating leases is recognized as revenue on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. All costs associated with the asset incurred in earning the lease revenue, including 
depreciation, are recognized as an expense. 
 
3.9 Contributions received in advance 

 
Contributions received in advance arise from legally binding agreements between UNAIDS and its donors 
whereby the funds are received in advance of the amounts concerned falling due to the Organization.  
 
3.10 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 
Accounts payable are financial liabilities for goods and services that have been received by UNAIDS and 
invoiced but not yet paid for. Accrued liabilities are financial liabilities for goods or services that have been 
received by UNAIDS, and which have neither been paid for nor invoiced to UNAIDS. Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities are recognized at cost, as the effect of discounting is considered not to be material. 
 
3.11 Employee benefits 
 
UNAIDS recognizes the following categories of employee benefits: 

▪ short-term employee benefits,  

▪ post-employment benefits,  

▪ other long-term employee benefits, and  

▪ termination benefits. 

  

3.11a  Short-term employee benefits 
 
Liabilities are established for short-term employee benefits including items such as wages, salaries and social 
security contributions, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, and non-monetary benefits (such as medical 
care) for current employees. Actuarial assumptions and valuations have been used to measure accumulated 
annual leave. In addition, liabilities are established for the value of accumulated leave, deferred home leave 
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and overtime earned but unpaid at the reporting date and for education grants payable at the reporting date 
that have not been included in current expenditure.   

 
3.11b  Post-employment benefits 

 
Post-employment benefits include pension plans, post-employment medical care and post-employment 
insurance. Also included are benefits to which eligible staff members are entitled on termination of their 
contracts and include repatriation grants, repatriation removal and repatriation travel. Post-employment 
benefits under defined benefit plans are measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and unrecognized past service costs.  
 
United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund 

UNAIDS is a member organization participating in the UN Joint Staff Pension Fund (the “Fund”), which was 
established by the UN General Assembly to provide retirement, death, disability and related benefits to 
employees. The Fund is a funded, multi-employer defined benefit plan. As specified in Article 3(b) of the 
Regulations of the Fund, membership in the Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies and to any other 
international, intergovernmental organization which participates in the common system of salaries, 
allowances and other conditions of service of the UN and the specialized agencies. 

The Fund exposes participating organizations to actuarial risks associated with the current and former 
employees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the result that there is no consistent and 
reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets and costs to individual organizations participating in 
the Fund. UNAIDS and the Fund, in line with the other participating organizations in the Fund, are not in a 
position to identify UNAIDS’s proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, the plan assets and the 
costs associated with the plan with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. Hence, UNAIDS has treated 
this plan as if it were a defined contribution plan in line with the requirements of IPSAS 39: Employee benefits. 
UNAIDS’s contributions to the Fund during the financial period are recognized as expenses in the Statement 
of Financial Performance. 

3.12  Borrowing costs 
 
UNAIDS has taken an interest free loan from the Swiss Government and Canton de Genève jointly with WHO 
for the construction of the UNAIDS/WHO building in Geneva. There are no borrowing costs associated with 
this loan. Borrowings are currently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds and the 
redemption value is recognized in the Statement of Financial Performance over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method. As the loan received by UNAIDS is an interest-free loan, the benefit to 
UNAIDS of this arrangement has been treated as an in-kind contribution. 
 
3.13  Deferred revenue 
 
Deferred revenue is recognized when legally binding agreements between the Programme and its donors, 
(including governments, international organizations and private and public institutions) are confirmed and the 
funds are earmarked and due in the future periods. Deferred revenue which is due after one year from the 
reporting date has been classified as non-current. 
 
3.14  Provisions and contingent liabilities and commitments 
 
Provisions are recognized for future liabilities and charges where UNAIDS has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that the Programme will be required to settle the 
obligation. Provisions are recorded as expense in the Statement of Financial Performance and a 
corresponding liability is established in the Statement of Financial Position when the occurrence of the 
obligation for settlement has been ascertained and can reasonably be estimated.  
 
Other commitments which do not meet the recognition criteria for liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements as contingent liabilities when their existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events that are not wholly within the control of UNAIDS. 
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Commitments are future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts entered into at the reporting date 
for which UNAIDS has minimal discretion, if any, to avoid in the ordinary course of operations. Commitments 
relating to employment contracts are excluded. Commitments are disclosed and include: 

▪ capital commitments: aggregate amount of capital expenses contracted for but not recognized as paid 
or provided for at year end; 

▪ contracts for the supply of goods or services which UNAIDS expects to be delivered in the ordinary 
course of operations; 

▪ non-cancellable minimum lease payments; and 

▪ other non-cancellable commitments 
 
3.15  Contingent assets 
 
Contingent assets will be disclosed when an event gives rise to a probable inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential and there is sufficient information to assess the probability of the inflow of economic benefits 
or service potential. 
 
3.16  Revenue recognition 
 
Voluntary contributions. UNAIDS receives only voluntary contributions. These are recorded on an accrual 
basis. Voluntary contributions which are supported by formal funding agreements signed by both parties are 
recognized as revenue at the time the agreement becomes binding and when control over the underlying 
asset is obtained. Where there are no payment terms specified by the contributor or payment terms are in 
the current accounting year, revenue is recognized immediately. 

Agreements which are subject to conditions such as performance and/or receipt of funds are conditional on 
a certain future date, such agreements are established recognizing a receivable and a corresponding 
deferred revenue as a liability. Revenue is recognized when the condition is discharged. 
 
Contributions in-kind and in-service. Contributions of goods or services in-kind or in-service are recorded 
in the period in which the contribution was received by UNAIDS. They are recognized and reflected as 
revenue and expense under the non-core funds at the best estimate of fair value. 
 
3.17  Expense recognition 
 
UNAIDS recognizes expense at the point when goods have been received, or services rendered (delivery 
principle) and accepted by UNAIDS and not when cash or its equivalent is paid.  
 
3.18  Segment reporting-fund accounting 
 
Fund accounting is a method of segregating resources into categories, (i.e. funds) to identify both the source 
and use of funds. Establishment of such funds helps ensure better reporting of revenue and expenses along 
with a distinguishable group of activities for achieving its objectives and making decisions for future allocation 
of resources.  
 
The different types of funds for UNAIDS are core UBRAF funds, non-core UBRAF funds and other funds 
(comprises of the staff benefits fund, non-payroll staff entitlements fund, the building renovation fund and 
common fund). Any transfers between funds that would result in duplication of revenue and/or expense 
(including Programme support costs) are eliminated during consolidation. UNAIDS’s assets and liabilities are 
not allocated to individual funds since ownership rests with the Programme. However, the balances against 
the respective funds and working capital reserve are recognized.  
 
3.19  Statement of cash flow 
 
The Statement of Cash Flow (Statement IV) is prepared using the indirect method. 
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3.20  Budget comparison 
 
The UBRAF continues to be prepared on a modified cash basis and is presented in the financial statements 
as Statement V, Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts. The PCB provides approval of the 
UBRAF and the UNAIDS financial statements encompass all activities of the Programme. 
 
As stipulated in IPSAS 24, the actual amounts presented on a comparable basis to the Budget shall, where 
the financial statements and the Budget are not prepared on a comparable basis, be reconciled to the actual 
amounts presented in the financial statements, identifying separately any basis, timing, presentation and 
entity differences. There may also be differences in formats and classification schemes adopted for the 
presentation of financial statements and the Budget. As the bases used to prepare the Budget and financial 
statements differ, and in order to facilitate a comparison between the Budget and the financial statements, 
reconciliation between the actual amounts presented in Statement V to the actual amounts presented in 
Statement II and Statement IV are included in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
4.  Supporting information to the statement of financial position 
 
4.1 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, imprest bank account balances, petty cash, cash 
deposits in transit and balances held by WHO on behalf of UNAIDS. Cash and cash equivalents are held for 
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. The balance also reflects 
cash and cash equivalents held in the portfolios managed by investment managers.  
 
The total cash and cash equivalents stood at US$ 13.9 million as at 31 December 2024 (US$ 9.9 million as 
at 31 December 2023). 
 

 
  
 

 4.2 Investments and financial instruments 
 
Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, criteria for recognition and de-recognition, 
basis of measurement and basis on which gains, and losses are recognized and are set out in the Accounting 
Policies. 
 
The main objectives for investments are the preservation of capital, the maintenance of sufficient liquidity to 
meet all payments of liabilities on time and the optimization of income return. The Investment Policy reflects 
the nature of funds, which may be held for the short-term, pending programme implementation, or for the 
longer term in order to meet liabilities under the other long-term funds of the Organization. 
 

 
 

 

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Cash on hand and at bank (imprest accounts)       80 598       88 071

Cash held on behalf of UNAIDS by WHO     13  785 000     9  795 000

Total cash and cash equivalents held by WHO     13  865 598     9  883 071

Description  31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents held by WHO     13  865 598     9  883 071

Short term investments held  by WHO     106  876 020     135  535 036

Financial Liabilities held  by WHO ( 880 000) ( 582 000)

Total     119  861 618     144  836 107
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Short-term investments are funds related to pending programme implementation and which are invested 
in cash and high-quality, short-term, government, agency, corporate bonds and time deposits as defined in 
the approved Investment Policy. Investments included within “financial assets at fair value through surplus 
and deficit" include fixed income securities and derivatives instruments held to cover projected liabilities and 
unexpected cash requirements. Financial assets in the externally managed portfolios designated upon initial 
recognition as at fair value through surplus or deficit are classified as short-term investments where the 
investment time horizon objective of these portfolios is less than or equal to a year. For short-term tactical 
investment reasons, the external managers of these portfolios may from time to time decide to lengthen 
temporarily the average duration of these portfolios to slightly longer than one year. This will not change the 
short-term classification of these financial assets unless the investment time horizon objective of the portfolio 
and the duration of its benchmark have been changed to more than one year. The investments in the “held-
to-maturity” portfolio with a duration of less than one year are classified as current assets in the category 
“financial assets at amortized costs”.  
 
Long-term investments are for funds managed under the Terminal Payments Account as defined in the 
approved Investment Policy and are invested in high-quality, medium-dated and long-dated, government, 
agency and corporate bonds. The financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit upon initial 
recognition in the Terminal Payments Fund investment portfolio are classified as long-term investments in 
accordance with the investment time horizon objective of the portfolio and the duration of its benchmark which 
are both greater than one year. 
 
Financial liabilities disclosed under “financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit ‒ held-for-
trading” arise from derivative transactions such as foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate 
swaps:  

▪ derivative contracts transacted by the portfolio managers to adjust the currency and the interest rate 
exposures and positions of the portfolios; and 

▪ forward foreign exchange contracts transacted by WHO to hedge the foreign exchange risk of future 
expenditure. 

 
Risk exposure  

 
UNAIDS shares the risk of WHO, which is exposed to financial risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, 
foreign currency exchange risk and investment price risk. Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge 
some of its risk exposures. In accordance with WHO Financial Regulations, funds not required for immediate 
use may be invested. All investments are carried out within the framework of the investment policy approved 
by the WHO Director General. Some portfolios are managed by external managers appointed by WHO to 
manage funds in accordance with a defined mandate. The Advisory Investment Committee reviews regularly 
the investment policies, the investment performance and the investment risk for each investment portfolio. 
The Committee is composed of external investment specialists who can make investment recommendations 
to the Director General of WHO. 
 
Credit risk  
 
UNAIDS shares similar credit risks to those of WHO and makes full disclosures with respect to the same. 
The WHO’s investments are widely diversified in order to limit its credit risk exposure to any individual 
investment counterparty. Investments are placed with a wide range of counterparties using minimum credit 
quality limits and maximum exposure limits by counterparty (and by groups of related counterparties) 
established in investment mandates. These limits are applied both to the portfolios managed internally by the 
WHO Treasury Unit and to the portfolios managed by external investment managers. The WHO Treasury 
Unit monitors the total exposure to counterparties across all internally and externally managed portfolios to 
ensure that total counterparty exposure across portfolios are tracked and managed. 
 
The credit and liquidity risk for cash and cash equivalents are minimized by investing only in major financial 
institutions that have received strong investment grade credit ratings from primary credit rating agencies. The 
WHO Treasury Unit regularly reviews the credit ratings of the approved counterparties and takes prompt 
action whenever a credit rating is downgraded.  
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Interest rate risk 
 
UNAIDS is exposed to interest rate risk through short- and long-term fixed income investments. The 
investment duration is a measure of sensitivity to changes in market interest rates, and the effective average 
duration of WHO’s investment as at 31 December 2024 was 0.8 years for short-term investments (excluding 
bank deposits) and 6.4 years for long-term investments. An increase of 1% in the interest rate would cause 
a decrease of 0.8% in the value of the short-term investments (excluding bank deposits) and a decrease of 
6.4% in the value of the long-term investments. The interest rates on short-term bank deposits are fixed at 
the time of investment; their values are not affected by any subsequent movement in interest rates.  

Fixed income derivatives may be used by external investment managers to manage interest rate risk under 
strict investment guidelines. Typically, the interest rate instruments are used for portfolio duration 
management and strategic interest rate positioning. 
 
Foreign exchange currency risk 
 
UNAIDS receives voluntary contributions and makes payments in currencies other than US dollars, and it is 
exposed to foreign exchange currency risk arising from fluctuations in the currency exchange rates. 
Exchange gains and losses on the purchase and sale of currencies, revaluation of cash book balances and 
all other exchange differences are adjusted against the funds and accounts eligible to receive interest under 
the interest apportionment programme. Translation into US dollars of transactions expressed in other 
currencies is performed at the UN Operational Rates of Exchange prevailing at the date of transaction. Assets 
and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the UN Operational Rates of 
Exchange year end closing rate. Forward foreign exchange contracts are transacted to hedge foreign 
currency exposures and to manage short-term cash flows. Realized and unrealized gains and losses resulting 
from settlement and revaluation of foreign currency transactions are recognized in the Statement of Financial 
Performance (Statement II). 
 
Hedging foreign exchange exposures on future payroll costs 
 
The value of non-dollar (i.e. Swiss Franc or CHF) payroll expenditures in 2024 has been protected from the 
impact of movements in foreign exchange rates against the US dollar. Protection has been affected through 
the transaction of forward currency contracts during 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the forward foreign 
currency exchange hedging contracts were CHF 12.2 million. Unrealized net loss on these contracts 
amounted to US$ 0.4 million as at 31 December 2024 (unrealized gain of US$ 0.7 million as at 31 December 
2023). Realized gains or losses on these contracts will be recorded on maturity of the contracts and applied 
during 2025.  
 

Hedging foreign exchange exposures on receivables and payables 

 
Currency exchange risk arises from differences in the exchange rates at which foreign currency receivables 
or payables are recorded, and the exchange rates at which the cash receipt or payment is subsequently 
recorded. A monthly programme of currency hedging is in place to protect against this foreign currency risk.  
On a monthly basis the exposures in respect of accounts receivable and accounts payable exposures are 
netted by currency and each significant net foreign currency exposure is bought or sold forward using a 
forward foreign exchange contract equal and opposite to the net currency exposure.   
 
These exposures are re-balanced at each month end to coincide with the settings of the monthly UN 
Operational Rates of Exchange. Through this process the exchange gains or losses realized on the forward 
foreign currency contracts match the corresponding unrealized exchange losses and gains on the 
movements in the net accounts receivable and accounts payable. As of 31 December 2024, the total forward 
foreign currency hedging contracts by currency for UNAIDS were as follows:  
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4.3 Accounts receivable  
 
As at 31 December 2024, US$ 132.8 million in contributions receivable was outstanding (US$ 113.5 million 
as at 31 December 2023). A total of US$ 131.9 million represents current receivables and the balance of 
US$ 0.9 million represents receivables due in future financial periods (2025 and beyond).  
 
With certain donors, UNAIDS signs agreements that may span many years of implementation. These 
agreements do not state the payment terms for the transfer of instalments; instead, they are reimbursed 
based on the quarterly expenses incurred. UNAIDS records the full amount of revenue in the financial year 
in which the agreement is signed and recognizes the full receivable as currently due. Reconciliation will be 
made at the end date of the grant agreements. As of 31 December 2024, the total receivable shown as 
currently due under this arrangement was US$ 130.5 million (US$ 104.7 million at 31 December 2023). 
 

 
 
 
4.4 Staff receivables 
 
In accordance with WHO’s Staff Rules and Regulations, staff members are entitled to certain advances 
including salary, rent, education grant and travel advances. Advances are recovered periodically from staff 
salaries through payroll except for education grants which are settled at the end of the scholastic year.  
 
International staff members are eligible to receive an advance equal to the estimated amount of education 
grant for each child at the beginning of the scholastic year and are settled at the end of the scholastic year. 
 
As at 31 December 2024, US$ 2.2 million in staff receivables was outstanding including salary advances, 
rental advances, travel advances and education grant advances (US$ 2.2 million as at 31 December 2023). 
The education grant advances represent the advances made to staff members for the scholastic year 2024–
2025. 

Currency forward sold Sum amount Sum amount Net unrealized 

     sold              bought                  gain/(loss)

(US dollars) (US dollars)

Euro       192 000       200 603        502

Total       200 603        502

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

Accounts receivable - current (in US dollars) (in US dollars)

UBRAF - Core funds     65  929 017     58  945 835

UBRAF - Non-core funds     65  982 391     54  086 924

Total accounts receivable - current     131  911 408     113  032 759

Accounts receivable - non-current

UBRAF - Core funds

UBRAF - Non-core funds       896 224       413 640

Others

Total accounts receivable - non current       896 224       413 640

Total accounts receivable     132  807 632     113  446 399
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4.5  Prepayments and deposits 
 
The total value of prepayments as at 31 December 2024 was US$ 0.7 million (US$ 2.0 million as at 31 
December 2023). Of that amount, US$ 0.3 million represents payments to suppliers in advance of receipt of 
goods or services which will be charged to expense in 2025; US$ 0.3 million relates to advances made to 
UNDP to cover payments made on behalf of UNAIDS. The remaining amount of US$ 0.1 million relates to 
deposits. Deposits represent mainly the amounts given to landlords as a security to rent office space. 
 

 
 
 
4.6 Other current receivables 
 
As at 31 December 2024, US$ 0.6 million in other receivables was outstanding (US$ 0.5 million as at 31 
December 2023) representing value added tax (VAT) receivables. 
 
4.7 Inventories 
 
The Secretariat only held publications for distribution with no realizable value. The cost of publications 
expensed during 2024 was zero. 
 
4.8 Intangibles 
 
The Secretariat has no intangible assets to report. 

 

4.9 Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) 

 
Building 

The carrying value of the UNAIDS building at headquarters has been calculated at cost less depreciation. 
The building was constructed jointly with WHO and ownership is recognized at the 50% value with WHO. 
The land upon which the building has been constructed was made available by the Swiss Government at no 
cost. The value of the land therefore has not been valued and disclosed in the financial statements.  
 

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

Staff receivables
(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Salary advances       113 352       90 135

Rental advances       38 447       34 233

Education Grant advances     1  973 795     1  934 271

Travel advances       41 353       6 175

Expected Sick Leave Insurance Contribution -       62 368

Other staff receivables       78 804       33 000

Total staff receivables     2  245 752     2  160 182

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

Prepayments and deposits (in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Advances to UNDP       312 985       284 276

Advances to Suppliers       266 487     1  592 748

Deposits       122 248       122 248

Total prepayments and deposits       701 720     1  999 272
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The original cost of the building, amounting to US$ 51.2 million (equivalent to CHF 66 million) reflects the 
expenditure accrued on the building up to its completion. The estimated useful life of the building has been 
assessed at 60 years and depreciation has been calculated using the straight-line method, specifically on 
UNAIDS's share totalling US$ 25.6 million.  
 
Plant and equipment 

UNAIDS has capitalized all plant and equipment purchased in 2024 with a value of US$ 5 000 or above.  
  
As at 31 December 2024, the total value of recognized property, plant and equipment (net of accumulated 
depreciation) was US$ 18.9 million (US$ 18.8 million as at 31 December 2023), of which the total value of 
property (net of accumulated depreciation) was US$ 17.9 million (US$ 18.4 million as at 31 December 2023) 
and the total value of equipment (net of accumulated depreciation) was US$ 1 million (US$ 0.5 million as at 
31 December 2023). 
 
Assets purchased during 2024 amounted to US$ 888 826 and have been depreciated by US$ 143 489, 
prorated to the date they were placed in the service using the straight-line method. Equipment with an original 
cost value totalling US$ 1.7 million has been fully depreciated and remains in use by the Secretariat. In 
addition, equipment with an original cost value of US$0.3 million was disposed of during 2024. 
 

 
 
 
4.10  Accounts payable 

 
This represents the total amount outstanding to suppliers for goods and services. The total accounts payable 
for UNAIDS programme activities as at 31 December 2024 was US$ 5.1 million (US$ 4.9 million as at 31 
December 2023). 
 

 
 
 
4.11   Staff payable 

 
The total balance for staff payable as at 31 December 2024 was US$ 0.4 million (US$ 0.4 million as at 31 
December 2023). These amounts relate to salaries payable and other staff payables. 
 

 Building 
 Furniture and 

Fixtures 
 Vehicles 

 Communications 

and IT Equipment 

 Other 

Equipment 
 Total 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars) (in US dollars) (in US dollars) (in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Cost or fair value     25  613 445       11 298     1  636 654       353 092       398 359     28  012 848

Accumulated depreciation (7 257 143) ( 11 298) (1 234 214) ( 319 405) ( 374 894) (9 196 953)

Total carrying cost as at 31 December 2023     18  356 302 -                                        402 440       33 687       23 465     18  815 895

Movements 1 January  to 31 December  2024

Additions -                                        -                                        684 437       167 323       37 066       888 826

Disposals -                               

Depreciation ( 426 891) -                                  ( 260 792) ( 33 080) ( 27 853) ( 748 616)

Total property, plant and equipment     17  929 412 -                                        826 086       167 930       32 677     18  956 104

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

Accounts payable (in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Payables to suppliers     2  987 102     2  160 840

Non-staff meeting participants payable       86 508       35 851

Accrual of goods and services     2  009 284     2  669 192

Total - accounts payable     5  082 894     4  865 883
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4.12   Accrued staff benefits 

 
Accrued staff benefits include terminal payments, staff health insurance and illness insurance and liabilities 
due to service-incurred death or disability (Special Fund for Compensation).  
 
UNAIDS staff benefits liabilities (excluding restructuring fund) are determined by professional actuaries. The 
actuarial studies commissioned determined various liabilities to be established to cover different staff benefits 
in accordance with IPSAS for WHO, UNAIDS and the other non-consolidated entities as at 31 December 
2024. The professional actuarial studies were calculated based on personnel data and past payment 
experience. 
 

 

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

Staff payables (in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Salaries payable       399 481       360 906

Other staff payables       16 781       21 858

Total - staff payables       416 262       382 764

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

I. Accrued staff benefits - current

Terminal Payments     9  601 904     10  612 928

Special fund for compensation       8 935       6 161

Total accrued staff benefits - current     9  610 839     10  619 089

Accrued staff benefits -non-current

Terminal payments     8  110 311     7  733 149

After-service health insurance (11 208 381) (24 851 172)

Special fund for compensation       407 678       380 810

Total accrued staff benefits - non-current (2 690 392) (16 737 214)

Accrued staff benefits -Total

Terminal payments     17  712 215     18  346 077

After-service health insurance (11 208 381) (24 851 172)

Special fund for compensation       416 612       386 971

Total accrued staff benefits     6  920 447 (6 118 125)

II. Restructuring Fund

Provision for restructuring -current       232 007

Provision for restructuring - non-current -                                   -                                   

Total provision for restructuring -                                         232 007

Grand total     6  920 447 (5 886 118)



UNAIDS/PCB (56)/25.11.rev1 
Page 39/62 

  

Terminal payments 
 
The Terminal Payments Fund was established to finance the terminal emoluments of staff members, 
including repatriation grants, accrued annual leave, repatriation travel and removal on repatriation. It is funded 
by a salary and post adjustment budgetary provision.  

Liabilities arising from repatriation benefits and annual leave are determined by independent consulting 
actuaries. However, the accrued leave is calculated on a walk-away basis––that is, as if all staff separated 
immediately––and, therefore, is not discounted.  

The actuarial study as at 31 December 2024 has estimated the total liability for terminal payments (excluding 
annual leave) to be US$ 9.2 million (US$ 9 million as at 31 December 2023). This calculation did not include 
cost of end of service grant and separation by mutual agreement.   
 
The annual leave entitlements stood at US$ 8.4 million as at 31 December 2024 (US$ 9.2 million as at 31 
December 2023), representing a decrease of US$ 0.8 million, mainly due to the revision of the policy on leave 
encashment.  
 
After-Service Health Insurance  
 
UNAIDS participates in a health insurance scheme which is managed as a separate entity, WHO Staff Health 
Insurance, and which has its own governance. It provides for the reimbursement of expenses for medically 
recognized healthcare incurred by staff members, recognized dependents and retired staff. It is financed from 
the contributions made by the participants and the Programme. 
 
UNAIDS has recognized staff health insurance liabilities as a Post-Employment Benefit. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized in the net assets/equity in accordance with IPSAS 39 (Employee Benefits).  
 
The defined benefit obligations as at 31 December 2024, determined by professional actuaries based on 
personnel data and past payments experience provided by WHO, stood at US$ 137.4 million (US$ 104.7 
million as at 31 December 2023) of which US$ 148.6 million is funded (including incurred-but-not-paid 
reserve), resulting in net funded liability of US$ 11.2 million, which is reflected in the Statement of Financial 
Position (Statement I). This represents a net funding position of 108% (123% at 31 December 2023).  
 
The defined benefit obligation increased mainly due to the decrease in discount rate in 2024, which was 
driven by economic conditions and unfavourable demographic movements. The plan assets increased to a 
greater extent in 2024 due to favourable market conditions and the overall net liability therefore increased. 
 
In accordance with IPSAS 39 (Employee Benefits), the actuarial loss of US$ 18 million was transferred 
directly to net assets/equity in 2024 and an additional accrual of US$ 4.3 million was charged to staff costs 
in the Statement of Financial Performance (Statement II).  
 
Further details on Staff Health Insurance can be found in the Staff Health Insurance Annual Report. 
 
Special Fund for Compensation 
 
In the event of a death or disablement attributable to the performance of official duties of an eligible staff 
member, the Special Fund for Compensation covers all reasonable medical, hospital and directly related 
costs, as well as funeral expenses. In addition, the Fund will also provide compensation to the disabled staff 
member (for the duration of the disability) or the surviving family members.   
 
UNAIDS accounts for the Special Fund for Compensation as a post-employment benefit. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized in the net assets/equity in accordance with IPSAS 39 (Employee Benefits). 
 
As per the actuarial study, the total liability was US$ 0.4 million at 31 December 2024 (US$ 0.4 million as at 
31 December 2023). The liability increased slightly due to the increase in the discount rate. In accordance 
with IPSAS 39, the actuarial gain of US$ 0.023 million (loss of US$ 0.025 million in 2023) was transferred 
directly to net assets/equity in 2024 and an additional accrual of US$ 0.05 million has been recognized by 
nature of expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance (Statement II).  
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Actuarial methods and assumptions 
 
Each year, the Programme identifies and selects assumptions and methods that will be used by actuaries in 
the year-end valuation to determine the expense and contribution requirements for the Programme’s staff 
benefits. Actuarial assumptions are required to be disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with 
IPSAS 39. In addition, each actuarial assumption is required to be disclosed in absolute terms. A full valuation 
is performed every three years and the most recent full valuation was in 2022. 
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United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund 
 
UNAIDS is a member organization participating in the UN Joint Staff Pension Fund (the “Fund”), which was 
established by the UN General Assembly to provide retirement, death, disability and related benefits to 
employees. The Fund is a funded, multi-employer defined benefit plan. As specified in Article 3(b) of the 
Regulations of the Fund, membership in the Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies and to any other 
international, intergovernmental organization which participates in the common system of salaries, 
allowances and other conditions of service of the UN and the specialized agencies. 

 

The Fund collectively exposes participating organizations to actuarial risks associated with the current and 
former employees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the result that there is no consistent 
and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets and costs to individual organizations participating 
in the Fund. UNAIDS and the Fund, in line with the other participating organizations in the Fund, are not in a 
position to identify UNAIDS’s proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, the plan assets and the 
costs associated with the plan with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. Hence, UNAIDS has treated 
this plan as if it were a defined contribution plan in line with the requirements of IPSAS 39 (Employee 
benefits). UNAIDS’s contributions to the Fund during the financial period are recognized as expenses in the 
Statement of Financial Performance. 

 

The Fund’s Regulations state that the Pension Board shall have an actuarial valuation made of the Fund at 
least once every three years by the Consulting Actuary. The practice of the Pension Board has been to carry 
out an actuarial valuation every two years. The primary purpose of the actuarial valuation is to determine 
whether the current and estimated future assets of the Fund will be sufficient to meet its liabilities into 
perpetuity. The Fund’s published funding policy (available on the Fund’s website) sets out the methods, 
processes and targets that are used to monitor the funding position and associated risks. This also includes 
the practice of utilizing an actuarial value of assets, which smooths short-term investment gains and losses 
for the purpose of reporting long-term solvency. 

 

UNAIDS’s financial obligation to the Fund consists of its mandated contribution, at the rate established by 
the UN General Assembly (currently at 7.9% for participants and 15.8% for member organizations) together 
with any share of any actuarial deficiency payments under Article 26 of the Regulations of the Pension Fund. 
Such deficiency payments are only payable if and when the UN General Assembly has invoked the provision 
of Article 26, following determination that there is a requirement for deficiency payments based on an 
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assessment of the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund as of the valuation date. Each member organization shall 
contribute to this deficiency an amount proportionate to the total contributions which each paid during the 
three years preceding the valuation date. It has never been necessary to invoke Article 26 and no deficiency 
payments have ever been requested. 

 

The latest actuarial valuation for the Fund was completed as of 31 December 2023. A roll-forward of the 
participation data as at 31 December 2023 to 31 December 2024 will be used by the Fund for the purpose of 
reporting an actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits in its 2024 financial statements. The 
actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2023 reported a funded ratio of actuarial assets to actuarial liabilities 
of 111.0% (117.0% in the 2021 valuation) when future expected pension adjustments (cost-of-living 
indexation on benefits) were taken into account. The reported funded ratio was 152.0% (158.2% in the 2021 
valuation) when the current system of pension adjustments was not taken into account and it would be the 
measure by which actuarial sufficiency is established under Article 26.  

After assessing the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund, the Consulting Actuary concluded that there was no 
requirement, as of 31 December 2023, for deficiency payments under Article 26 of the Regulations of the 
Fund as the actuarial value of assets exceeded the actuarial value of all accrued liabilities under the plan. At 
the time of this report, the General Assembly has not invoked the provision of Article 26. 

 

Should Article 26 be invoked due to an actuarial deficiency, either during the ongoing operation or due to the 
termination of the Fund, deficiency payments required from each member organization would be based upon 
the proportion of that member organization’s contributions to the total contributions paid to the Fund during 
the three years preceding the valuation date. Total contributions paid to the Fund during the preceding three 
years (2021, 2022 and 2023) amounted to US$ 9,499.41 million, of which 0.7% was contributed by UNAIDS. 

 

During 2024, contributions paid by UNAIDS to the Fund amounted to US$ 23.9 million (US$ 22.6 million in 
2023). Expected contributions due in 2025 are approximately US$ 25.3 million. 

 

Membership of the Fund may be terminated by decision of the UN General Assembly, upon the affirmative 
recommendation of the Pension Board. A proportionate share of the total assets of the Fund at the date of 
termination shall be paid to the former member organization for the exclusive benefit of its staff who were 
participants in the Fund at that date, pursuant to an arrangement mutually agreed between the organization 
and the Fund. The amount is determined by the UN Joint Staff Pension Board based on an actuarial valuation 
of the assets and liabilities of the Fund on the date of termination; no part of the assets which are in excess 
of the liabilities are included in the amount. 

 

The UN Board of Auditors carries out an annual audit of the Fund and reports to the Pension Board and to 
the UN General Assembly on the audit every year. The Fund provides weekly information on its investments, 
which can be viewed at www.unjspf.org. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.unjspf.org/
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4.13  Deferred revenue 
 
As at 31 December 2024, deferred revenue amounted to US$ 2.3 million (US$ 8.8 million as at 31 December 
2023). This represents multi-year pledges made in 2024 for which the revenue recognition has been deferred 
to future financial periods.  
 

 
 
 
4.14   Long-term borrowings 
 
At its 12th meeting in May 2004, the PCB endorsed UNAIDS’s negotiation of a direct loan with the Swiss 
Confederation for the construction of a new building in Geneva for UNAIDS and WHO at an estimated cost 
of CHF 66 million, of which UNAIDS’s share was estimated at CHF 33 million. In December 2003, the Swiss 
Confederation agreed to provide an interest-free loan of CHF 59.8 million, of which UNAIDS’s share is CHF 
29.9 million. The repayment over a 50-year period of UNAIDS’s share of the interest-free loan provided by 
the Swiss Confederation is made through the reallocation of funds otherwise expended on the rental of office 
space with effect from the first year of the completion of the building. The building was completed in November 
2006. The amount under Buildings includes US$ 25.6 million which represents the 50% share of UNAIDS’s 
expense incurred on the building up to 31 December 2007.  
 
The outstanding amount of the loan was discounted using the Swiss Confederation 30-year bonds rate was 
0.369% at 31 December 2024 (0.494% for 2023).  As at 31 December 2024, the total amount outstanding on 
the loan was US$ 20.1 million (US$21.8 million in 2023). The repayment of the loan commenced in 
accordance with the loan agreement and is made up as follows:  
 

 
 
The maturity of these liabilities is as follows: 

 
 

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Deferred revenue - current

UBRAF - Core funds     8  052 866

UBRAF - Non-core funds     1  445 209       337 514

 Total deferred revenue - current     1  445 209     8  390 380

Deferred revenue - non-current

UBRAF - Core funds -                                    -                                    

UBRAF - Non-core funds       896 224       413 640

Total deferred revenue - non-current       896 224       413 640

Total deferred revenue     2  341 433     8  804 020

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Long-term borrowings - current       663 707       716 168

Long-term borrowings - non current     19  407 972     21  149 587

Total long-term borrowings     20  071 679     21  865 755

2024 WHO/UNAIDS Building

Under one year       663 707

One to five years     2  654 828

Five years+     16  753 144

Total long-term borrowings     20  071 679
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4.15   Other current liabilities  
 
As at 31 December 2024, US$ 0.24 million in other current liabilities (US$ 0.23 million as at 31 December 
2023), these represent accrued pension liability made by UNAIDS on behalf of temporary staff.  
 

 
 
 
4.16  Changes in net assets/equity 
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the net assets/equity decreased by US$ 11.4 million. US$ 
6.6 million is related to a surplus during 2024 (compared to a deficit of 9.1 million in 2023) and US$18 million 
is related to actuarial loss under ASHI which was transferred directly to net assets/equity in accordance with 
IPSAS 39 (Employee Benefits).  

In line with the PCB’s approval to fund the annual replenishment of the Building Renovation Fund, in 2024 
the Executive Director authorized the transfer of a total of US$ 0.43 million from the fund balance towards 
the Building Renovation Fund. The PCB during its 54th meeting on 25–27 June 2024 took note of the 
Executive Director’s decision. 

The funded staff-related liabilities, stood at US$ 16.7 million as at 31 December 2024 (US$ 54 million funded 
as at 31 December 2023), a net decrease of US$ 37.3 million following the PCB decision to transfer the 
amount of US$ 25.1 million from overfunded staff related liabilities to the no-restricted funds.  

The non-payroll staff entitlements fund stood at US$ 8.5 million as at 31 December 2024 (US$ 9.5 million as 
at 31 December 2023), a net decrease of US$ 1 million. 
 
4.17  Operating Reserve Fund 
 
Pending receipt of core contributions, implementation of the UBRAF may be financed from the Operating 
Reserve Fund, which was established by the PCB in June 1996. The rules and procedures guiding the use 
of that Fund by the Executive Director were decided by the PCB at its sixth meeting in Geneva in May 1998. 
 
4.18  Building Renovation Fund 
 
The Building Renovation Fund was established by the PCB at its 30th meeting in June 2012. This fund has 
been set up to meet the future costs of major repairs of alterations to, and investments in, the UNAIDS office 
building. 

The PCB also approved the annual replenishment of the fund for an amount equivalent to the accumulated 
depreciation of the UNAIDS building. In line with the decision of the PCB ,the Building Renovation Fund was 
increased by US$ 0.43 million in 2024 (same amount as in the previous year). 

In 2024, US$ 0.3 million in interest income and US$ 0.5 million in rental income were credited to the 
renovation fund, offset by a US$ 0.4 million expense for building renovation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

Other Current Liability (in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Accrued Pension Liabity       238 140       228 059

Financial liability       2 340       2 730

Total - Other Current Liability       240 480       230 789
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5. Supporting information to the Statement of Financial Performance 
 
5.1 Statement overview 

 
The Statement of Financial Performance consolidates revenue and expenses for all activities throughout the 
Programme. The statement segregates operating activities from those arising from financing operations.  
 
5.2  Revenue 
 
Voluntary contributions to the Programme totalled US$ 225.3 million (US$ 213.9 million for 2023), of which 
US$ 217.3 million was from governments; US$ 2.9 million from UNAIDS Cosponsors; and a net of US$ 5.1 
million from other operating revenue received from intergovernmental organizations, other UN Organizations, 
institutions and the private sector. That figure includes US$ 1.6 million in in-service contributions. There was 
US$ 1 million in miscellaneous income, primarily from refunds by partners on closed projects related to the 
previous financial period (US$ 0.8 million in 2023). No revenue was received from exchange transactions. 
 

 
 
 
5.3  Expense   
 
UNAIDS recognizes expense at the point when goods have been delivered or services rendered and 
accepted by UNAIDS. An encumbrance represents a firm commitment or obligation for goods and services 
which have not been delivered. Encumbrances are not reported in the Statement of Financial Performance 
(Statement II).  
 
5.3.1  Staff and other personnel costs 
 
Staff and other personnel costs represent the total cost of employing staff at all locations, including 
remuneration of base salary, post adjustment and any other type of entitlements (e.g. pension and insurance) 
paid by the Programme. Staff costs also include the decrease in the SHI actuarial liability which is recognized 
as expense in the Statement of Financial Performance.  
 

 
 
 
 

 UBRAF Core 

Funds 

 UBRAF Non-core 

and other funds 
 Total 2024  Total 2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars) (in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Governments     143  880 026     73  384 737     217  264 763     203  490 053

Cosponsors -                            2  853 819     2  853 819     2  332 649

Others       25 853     5  115 604     5  141 457     7  785 413

Sub- total voluntary contributions     143  905 879     81  354 160     225  260 039     213  608 115

Miscellaneous       539 295       502 757     1  042 052       772 621

Total  revenue     144  445 174     81  856 917     226  302 091     214  380 736

2024

 Revenue 

Voluntary contributions 

Description  31 December  2024  31 December  2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Salary cost     103  251 364     95  848 469

Actuarial cost (4 782 506) (1 008 482)

Other personnel costs     7  275 402     6  312 498

Total staff cost     105  744 260     101  152 485
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5.3.2  Transfers and grants to counterparts 
 
Transfers and grants to counterparts represent grants provided to national counterparts, letters of 
agreements signed with UN entities, non-profit nongovernmental organizations and academic institutions to 
perform activities to help achieve specific objectives of the UNAIDS Secretariat, as well as transfers to 
UNAIDS Cosponsors for their share of the UBRAF for 2022–2026. Transfers and grants to governments are 
referred to as direct financial cooperation. Funds are normally expensed at the time of transfer to the 
contractual partner. 
 

 
 
 
5.3.3  Contractual services 
 
Contractual services represent expenses for service providers. The main components are Agreements for 
Performance of Work (APWs), which are consulting contracts given to individuals to perform activities on 
behalf of the Programme.  
 

 
 
 
5.3.4  General operating expenses  
 
General operating expenses represent expenses related to general operations in support of headquarters, 
regional and country offices. This includes costs such as utilities, telecommunications and rent. 
 

 
 
 
5.3.5  Travel  
 
Travel of staff, meeting participants and consultants paid by UNAIDS are included in the total travel costs. 
Travel expenses include airfare, per diems and other travel related costs.  
 

Description  31 December  2024  31 December  2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Direct financial Cooperation     1  316 010     1  477 357

Letter of Agreements     63  420 164     64  329 993

Total transfers and grants to 

counterparts     64  736 174     65  807 351

Description  31 December  2024  31 December  2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Contractual services     34  755 669     38  926 102

Security expenses       823 045     1  387 749

Training     1  120 467       927 037

Direct implementation and 

Special service agreements
      202 128       184 079

Total Contractual Services     36  901 309     41  424 966

Description  31 December  2024  31 December  2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

General operating expenses     11  438 411     13  980 906
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5.3.6  Equipment vehicles and furniture  
 
Total expenses for 2024 were US$ 0.6 million (US$ 0.6 million for 2023), which represents purchases of 
items below the capitalization threshold. 
 

 
 
 
5.3.7 Depreciation 
 
Depreciation has been charged on PP&E, using the straight-line method. Depreciation is the expense 
resulting from the systematic allocation of the amounts on the PP&E over their useful lives. The useful life of 
the building has been estimated at 60 years. The useful lives of furniture and vehicles have been estimated 
at five years and that of equipment has been estimated at three years. 
 
 

 
 
 
5.4  Finance revenue (cost)   
 
The total interest earnings were US$ 6.8 million for the financial period ended 31 December 2024; net realized 
foreign exchange loss of US$ 0.1 million; actuarial revaluation loss on Terminal Payment fund of US$ 0.4 
million; net unrealized foreign exchange gains on revaluation of the accounts receivables and Swiss loan 
adjustments amounted to of US$ 1.2 million; realized foreign exchange losses on balance sheet hedging 
amounted  to US$ 0.3 million; and actuarial interest cost related to valuation of Terminal Payments and 
Special Fund for Compensation of US$ 0.4 million. This has resulted in a net total financial revenue amount 
of US$ 6.7 million for year ended 31 December 2024 (US$ 5.4 million in 2023). 
 
 

  

Description  31 December  2024  31 December  2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Travel     6  288 587     5  382 101

Description  31 December  2024  31 December  2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Equipment, vehicles and furniture       584 435       588 439

Description  31 December  2024  31 December  2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Depreciation       748 616       636 769

 31 December  2024  31 December  2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Interest     6  789 975     10  089 035

Net realized foreign exchange gains or (losses) ( 148 900)     1  127 944

Actuarial  revaluation gains or (losses) on Terminal Payments Funds ( 425 217) ( 89 319)

Bank charges and investment management fees ( 2 445) ( 1 839)

Net unrealized foreign exchange gains or (losses) on revaluation     1  214 230 (4 547 798)

Realised foreign exchange gains or (losses) on balance sheet hedging ( 255 481) ( 604 337)

Actuarial interest cost related to valuation of Terminal Payments

Fund and Special Fund for Compensation
( 440 127) ( 526 532)

Total net finance revenue     6  732 034     5  447 153

Finance revenue/(cost) 
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6.  Segment reporting 

 

Schedule 1. Statement of Financial Performance by Segments, all sources of funds, for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 (in US dollars) 

 

  

Terminal 

Payments

Non-payroll 

Entitlements

Special Fund for 

Compensation

Staff Health 

Insurance

Building Ren. 

Fund

Common 

Fund

Eliminations Sub-total

non-core and

other funds

Revenue

Voluntory contributions

Governments     143  880 026     73  384 737     73  384 737     217  264 763

Cosponsoring organizations -                            2  853 819     2  853 819     2  853 819

Others       25 853     5  115 604     5  115 604     5  141 457

Appropriation -                   -                   

Sub-total voluntary contributions     143  905 879     81  354 160     81  354 160     225  260 039

Miscellaneous       539 295       31 965       470 792       502 757     1  042 052

      Total  revenue     144  445 174     81  386 125 -                    -                    -                     -                           470 792 -                    -                        81  856 917     226  302 091

Programme Support Costs     4  913 178 (4 913 178) -                   -                   

Payroll transfers to accrual funds     1  432 073     6  723 188 (8 155 261) -                   -                   

Total  revenue     144  445 174     86  299 303     1  432 073     6  723 188 -                     -                           470 792 -                    (13 068 439)     81  856 917     226  302 091

Expense

Staff and other personnel costs     99  308 098     10  991 720       376 284     7  505 022       38 187 (4 360 291)       40 500 (8 155 261)     6  436 162     105  744 260

Transfers and grants to counterparts     37  189 939     27  546 235     27  546 235     64  736 174

Contractual services     9  689 700     26  590 366       333 737       287 506     27  211 609     36  901 309

General operating expenses     7  900 859     4  157 316       43 943 ( 663 707)     3  537 551     11  438 411

Travel     3  589 429     2  587 081       112 077     2  699 158     6  288 587

Equipment, vehicles and furniture       198 240       386 195       386 195       584 435

Programme Support Costs     4  913 178 (4 913 178) -                   -                   

Depreciation       748 616       748 616       748 616

Appropriation -                   -                   

Total expense     157  876 266     77  172 090       488 361     7  838 759       38 187 (4 360 291)       371 949       84 909 (13 068 439)     68  565 526     226  441 791

Financial revenue/(cost)     4  564 907       609 908 ( 14 773)       357 763     1  214 229     2  167 127     6  732 034

Total Surplus/(Deficit) by fund (8 866 185)     9  127 213     1  553 619 (1 115 571) ( 52 960)     4  360 291       456 606     1  129 320 -                    15  458 518     6  592 334

UBRAF Core Funds
UBRAF Non-Core 

Funds

Other  Funds

TOTAL
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7.  Comparison of budget and actual amounts 
 
The UNAIDS Programme Budget is established on a modified cash basis and is approved by the PCB.  
 
UNAIDS’s budget and financial accounts are prepared using two different accounting bases. The Statement 
of Financial Position, Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Changes in Net Assets and 
Statement of Cash Flow are prepared on a full accrual basis, whereas the Statement of Comparison of Budget 
and Actual Amounts (Statement V) is prepared on a modified cash basis.   
 
As required by IPSAS 24, reconciliation has been provided between the actual amounts on a comparable 
basis, as presented in Statement V, and the actual amounts in the financial accounts, identifying separately 
any basis, timing, presentation and entity differences.   
 
Basis differences occur when the approved budget is prepared on a basis other than the full accrual 
accounting basis. Basis differences include the depreciation and capitalization of assets and repayment of 
the principal on the outstanding loan from the Swiss Confederation. 
 
Timing differences occur when the budget period differs from the reporting period reflected in the financial 
statements.  
 
Presentation differences are due to differences in the format and classification schemes adapted for 
presentation of Statement of Cash Flow and Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts. 
 
Entity differences include expenses under non-core funds, which are financed from other sources and are 
not included in the UBRAF approved by the PCB.  
 
Reconciliation between the actual amounts on a comparable basis in the Statement of Comparison of Budget 
and Actual Amounts (Statement V) and the actual amounts in the Statement of Financial Performance 
(Statement II) and Statement of Cash Flow (Statement IV) for the year ended 31 December 2024 are 
presented in the Table below. 
 
Reconciliation of Budget Utilization (Statement V) with Statement of Cash Flow (Statement IV) as at 
31 December 2024 
 

 
 
 
8.  Administrative waivers, amounts written off and ex-gratia payments  
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, there were no administrative waivers, amounts written 
off or ex-gratia payments.  
 
 
9.  Related party and senior management disclosure 
 
Key management personnel of UNAIDS consist of all staff members graded at the D1 level and above as 
they have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of UNAIDS.  
 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars) (in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Actual amount on budget implementation (Statement V) (157 726 148) (157 726 148)

Basis Difference (1 552 533)     28  957 016 ( 579 847)     26  824 636

Entity Difference     66  640 215     66  640 215

Presentation Difference     75  922 624 (7 678 801)     68  243 823

Actual Amount in Statement of Cash Flow (Statement IV) (16 715 842)     21  278 215 ( 579 847)     3  982 526

2024

      Operating Investing Financing Total
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The aggregate remuneration paid to key management personnel includes salaries, allowances and statutory 
travel, as well as other entitlements paid in accordance with the Staff Rules and Regulations applicable to all 
staff.  
 
Key management personnel are members of the UN Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPF) to which the 
personnel and UNAIDS contribute and are also eligible for participation in the Staff Health Insurance scheme, 
including the after-service medical insurance scheme if they meet the eligibility requirements.  
 
During the year, no loans were granted to key management personnel beyond those available to staff outside 
this group. 
 
  

 
 
 
10.   Events after the reporting date 
 
The Programme’s reporting date is 31 December 2024. The financial statements were authorized for issue 
on 28 March 2025, the date at which they were submitted to the External auditor by the Executive Director.  
 
On 29 January 2025, the United States Government, UNAIDS's largest donor, announced an 85-day 
suspension of foreign aid to UNAIDS, which was intended to facilitate the Government’s review of foreign aid 
and reevaluate its international funding priorities. This event occurred after the reporting date, so it is a non-
adjusting event under IPSAS, and no changes have been made to the financial statements.  
 
As of the reporting date, US$ 65.5 million of core contribution receivables and US$ 62.7 million of non-core 
contributions receivables due from the US Government were recognized on the Statement of Financial 
Position, representing 97% of the organization's total contributions receivable (Note 4.3). The following Table 
summarizes the exposure:  

 

Description Ref.  US dollars Percentage 

Contributions receivable as on 31 December 2024 Note 4.3 $132,807,632 100% 

US Government   128,288,599 97% 

Of which collected since 31 December, 2024  20,854,937 (16%) 

Not collected since 31 December 24, as at 17 March 
2025 

 $107,433,662 81% 

 
 
 
 



UNAIDS/PCB(56)/25.11 
Page 52/62 

 
11.  Contingent liabilities, commitments and contingent assets 
 

Contingent liabilities 
 
As at 31 December 2024, one (1) outstanding appeal was pending before the WHO Global Board of Appeal 
(GBA) with respect to UNAIDS former and serving staff. The respective recommendations from the GBA for 
decision by the UNAIDS Executive Director is expected during 2025. Furthermore, 13 (thirteen) outstanding 
personnel matters (complaints), submitted during the period of 2020–2024, were pending with the ILO 
Administrative Tribunal as at the above-referenced and therefore are not practicable to disclose as the 
likelihood of repayment has been determined to be remote. There are no cases involving contractual disputes 
that are to be considered contingent liabilities. 
 
 
Operating leases 
 
The Secretariat enters into operating lease arrangements for the use of country, regional and liaison offices 
premises. Some of the operating lease agreements contain renewal clauses, which enables the Secretariat 
to extend the terms of leases at the end of the original lease terms and escalation clauses that may increase 
annual rent payments based on increases in the relevant market price indexes in the respective countries 
where country, regional and liaison offices are located. Future minimum lease rental payments for the 
following periods are: 
 

 
 

 

 
Commitments 
 
As at 31 December 2024, UNAIDS had commitments for the acquisition of good and services contracted but 
not yet delivered totalling US$ 8.7 million (US$ 6.6 million for 2023). 
 
The following tables present the open purchase orders for which UNAIDS had not received the related goods 
or services as at 31 December 2024. 
 

 
 
  
Contingent assets 
 
In accordance with IPSAS 19, contingent assets will be disclosed for cases where an event will give rise to a 
probable inflow of economic benefits. As at 31 December 2024, there were no material contingent assets to 
disclose. 

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Operating leases 

Within one year       603 863       977 141

Later than one year but not later than five years     2  075 586     3  246 447

Later than five years       367 337       299 255

Total operating leases     3  046 786     4  522 843

(in US dollars)(in US dollars)

 31 December 2024  31 December 2023 

(in US dollars) (in US dollars)

Property, Plant and Equipment       496 621       302 490

Goods       171 976       339 298

Services     8  011 447     5  979 005

Total commitments     8  680 044     6  620 793

Description
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Schedule 2

Governments

Andorra       33 040

Australia     3  337 784

Belgium     3  537 736

Belgium Flanders       822 368

Canada     3  692 762

Denmark     5  630 631

France       653 595

Germany     7  295 559

Ireland     2  708 559

Japan       600 000

Liechtenstein       54 885

Luxembourg     4  954 344

Monaco       227 459

Netherlands     24  918 743

New Zealand       606 796

Norway     1  854 256

Poland       75 662

Portugal       185 651

Russian Federation       412 905

Spain     1  084 599

Sweden     9  662 769

Switzerland     11  210 762

Thailand       105 080

Turkey       10 000

United Kingdom of Great Britain & Northern Ireland     10  204 082

United States of America     50  000 000

Sub-total Governments     143  880 026

Other

UNFCU       15 842

Others       10 011

Sub-total - Other       25 853

Miscellaneous       539 295

Total operating revenue     144  445 174

Finance revenue     4  564 907

TOTAL     149  010 081

Unified Budget, Results and Accountability Framework - Core funds  

Details of revenue for the period 01 January 2024 to 31 December 2024

(in US dollars)

Voluntary contributions
Funds made available 

towards 2024 UBRAF Core 
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Part IV: Management information 

 
I.  Funds made available for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 
 

During the period under review, revenue totalling US$ 149 million was made available towards the core 
UBRAF. Twenty-six governments contributed 96.6% of this amount. The remaining 3.4% was made up 
of financial revenue (primarily interest earned on bank balances) received and apportioned during the 
reporting period, as well as miscellaneous income, including funds received from private contributors and 
public institutions other than governments plus miscellaneous donations and honoraria. Schedule 2 on 
page 53 provides details of this revenue. 

 
 Non-core UBRAF resources amounting to US$ 82 million were made available to the UNAIDS Secretariat 

to provide support to several global, regional and country activities that are designated for specific 
countries or purposes. Details of the sources of these funds are presented in Schedule 3 on page 54. 

 
II. Funds expended and encumbered for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 
 

The total expense and encumbrances for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 against the core 
UBRAF for 2024–2025 amounted to US$ 160.2 million and expense and encumbrances against the non-
core UBRAF funds amounted to US$ 79.3 million. 

 
A. Core Unified Budget, Results and Accountability Framework 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, expense and encumbrance (including transfers to 
Cosponsors) totalling US$ 160.2 million were incurred against the core operating budget of US$ 160 
million approved for the 2024–2025 UBRAF, which corresponded to a financial implementation of 100%. 
 

The total expenses and encumbrances for the implementation of the activities contained in the core 
UBRAF were distributed as follows:  

▪ US$ 34 million was transferred to the Cosponsors, and 

▪ US$ 123.7 million was expended and US$ 2.5 million encumbered for Secretariat activities and staff 
costs. 
 

Table 4 provides details for year 2024 of the 2024–2025 UBRAF approved core budget, expenses and 
encumbrances, broken down by result area, and the Secretariat core functions for the biennium 2024–2025. 
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Table 4. 2024–2025 Unified Budget, Results and Accountability Framework approved core budget, 

expenses and encumbrances for the period ended 31 December 2024 
(in US dollars) 

 

 
 

i) Funds transferred to Cosponsors 
 
In 2024, a total amount of US$ 34 million, out of the reduced core allocation of US$ 47 million, was transferred 
to Cosponsors. To cover core activities, US$ 1.5 million, instead of the US$ 2 million approved allocation, 
was transferred to each of the 11 Cosponsors and a further US$ 17.5 million was transferred at country level 
in the form of country envelopes. 
 
The country envelope funding modality was first introduced in the 2018–2019 biennium following approval of 
the refined UNAIDS Joint Programme operating model by the PCB at its 40th meeting in June 2017.  

 
This approach serves three overarching objectives: to deploy human and financial resources where they are 
needed most; to reinvigorate country-level joint work and collaborative action; and to reinforce accountability 
and results for people. 
 
The country envelopes were established for 91 countries through a process which entailed engagement of 
the Cosponsors at all levels to reach consensus on the formula, process, deliverables and allocations. (Table 
7 on pages 61 to 62 provides details of funds transferred to Cosponsors at country level).  

 
Figure 5, below, illustrates the dynamic and differentiated resource allocation model and provides information 
on the proportion of funds transferred to each individual Cosponsor. 

 

2024-2025  

Core Budget

Upper Level

2024-2025  

Core Budget

Base Level 

2024 Core 

Operating Budget

Expense

2024 Encumbrances
 a/ Total

Percentage 

implementation

(a) (b) (c) (d) = (b + c) (e) = (d / a)

I. Result Areas

1 HIV prevention     27  595 800     22  092 000     8  498 800     8  498 800     8  498 800 100.0%

2 HIV testing and treatment     12  183 200     10  336 600     3  212 000     3  212 000     3  212 000 100.0%

3 Paediatric AIDS and vertical transmission     14  602 400     9  776 000     3  856 300     3  856 300     3  856 300 100.0%

4 Community-led responses     8  244 400     6  705 000     2  616 000     2  616 000     2  616 000 100.0%

5 Human rights     13  803 200     7  863 200     2  588 600     2  588 600     2  588 600 100.0%

6 Gender equality     11  747 400     8  593 000     3  241 000     3  241 000     3  241 000 100.0%

7 Young people     13  235 600     9  251 000     3  658 200     3  658 200     3  658 200 100.0%

8 Fully funded HIV response     3  893 000     3  052 200       901 600       901 600       901 600 100.0%

9 Integration and social protection     10  870 800     8  299 400     2  127 400     2  127 400     2  127 400 100.0%

10 Humanitarian settings and pandemics     11  824 200     8  031 600     3  300 100     3  300 100     3  300 100 100.0%

Total Cosponsors     128  000 000     94  000 000     34  000 000     34  000 000     34  000 000 100.0%

II. Core Functions

1 Leadership, advocacy and communication     75  002 000     71  922 000     30  235 000     29  466 704       723 912     30  190 615 99.9%

2 Partnerships, mobilization and innovation     51  596 000     49  474 000     25  544 000     25  366 263       646 005     26  012 267 101.8%

3 Strategic information     45  810 000     43  926 000     17  725 000     17  215 078       469 770     17  684 848 99.8%

4
Coordination, convening & country 

implementation support
    67  456 000     64  684 000     29  017 000     28  685 353       252 988     28  938 342 99.7%

5 Governance and mutual accountability     52  136 000     49  994 000     23  479 000     22  992 750       435 330     23  428 080 99.8%

Total Secretariat     292  000 000     280  000 000     126  000 000     123  726 148     2  528 005     126  254 153 100.2%

Grand Total     420  000 000     374  000 000     160  000 000     157  726 148     2  528 005     160  254 153 100.2%

 a/  Encumbrances representing firm commitment for good and/or services which have not yet been delivered
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Figure 5. Funds transferred to the Cosponsors in 2024 (in millions of US dollars)   
 

 
  

ii) Funds expended and encumbered against the Secretariat core budget 

 
During the year ended on 31 December 2024, a total amount of US$ 123.7 million was expended and 
US$ 2.5 million encumbered for Secretariat activities and staff costs against the Secretariat 2024 core 
budget of US$ 126.2 million, which together represent a financial implementation rate of 100.2% of the 
Secretariat’s 2024 core budget. 
 
Table 4 provides details on the 2024–2025 UBRAF approved core budget, expenses and encumbrances, 
broken down by result area, and on the Secretariat core functions for the biennium 2024–2025. 

 
 B. Expenses incurred against the UBRAF non-core funds 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total amount of US$ 72.6 million was expended and US$ 
6.2 million encumbered by the Secretariat against UBRAF non-core funds. 
 
Table 5 on page 58 provides details on the 2024 UBRAF non-core funds made available; expenses and 
encumbrances, broken down by source of funding. 
 
C. Country and regional expenses against all sources of funds 
 
As recommended by the PCB at its 22nd meeting, held in Chiang Mai, Thailand, on 23–25 April 2008, 
the report shown in Table 6 on pages 59 to 60 presents a breakdown of expenses and encumbrances 
of the Secretariat by country and region for both the UBRAF core funds and UBRAF non-core funds. 
Country and regional expenses amounted to US$ 89.5 million for the financial year ended 31 December 
2024. In addition to the expenses, a total of US$ 5.1 million was encumbered during the same period, 
which together totalled US$ 94.6 million for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.  
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Table 5. UBRAF non-core funds  
Funds available, expenses and encumbrance by source of revenue for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (in US dollars) 
 

 
 
  

  

Source of revenue
2023

 carry-over 

Funds made 

available in 

2024

Total

available funds
Expense Encumbrance

 a/ Total 
Percentage 

implementation

(a) (b) ( c) = (a+b) (d) (e) (f) = (d + e) (g) = (f / c)

Australia 1 846 951 1 932 015 3 778 966 2 507 782  160 295 2 668 077 70.6%

Belgium  15 250  15 250  15 250  15 250 100.0%

Cameroon  616 623  616 623  8 560  8 560 1.4%

Canada  342 458  342 458 0.0%

China 2 506 968  655 628 3 162 596 2 592 035  255 786 2 847 821 90.0%

France   155 2 263 110 2 263 265 1 105 756  649 670 1 755 426 77.6%

Germany  445 674  260 993  706 667  480 334  480 334 68.0%

Italy  340 875  340 875  340 875  340 875 100.0%

Japan  250 034  250 000  500 034  383 667  4 594  388 261 78%

Kazakhstan  6 444  50 000  56 444  47 882  3 956  51 838 91.8%

Kenya  145 852  145 852  111 947  7 494  119 441 81.9%

Laos  53 500  53 500  1 525  1 525 2.9%

Luxembourg  32 896  141 083  173 979  146 645  146 645 84.3%

Netherlands 3 973 448 1 401 051 5 374 499 3 551 117  48 940 3 600 057 67.0%

Nigeria 1 000 000 1 000 000  465 574  53 603  519 177 51.9%

Russian Federation  149 465  149 465 (  12) (  12) 0.0%

Sierra Leone 1 844 788 1 844 788 1 165 975 1 165 975 63.2%

Sri Lanka  35 500  35 500  7 190  26 458  33 648 94.8%

Sweden  248 601  248 601  169 064  169 064 68.0%

Switzerland  375 847  172 563  548 410  371 431  39 320  410 751 74.9%

United States of America (CDC) 11 326 695 12 017 282 23 343 977 12 460 503 1 384 319 13 844 822 59.3%

United States of America (USAID) 28 521 280 49 774 551 78 295 831 34 786 470 2 963 829 37 750 299 48.2%

Canton de Genève, Switzerland  71 615  71 615  71 615  71 615 100.0%

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation 4 332 468 4 220 757 8 553 225 3 566 339  103 090 3 669 429 42.9%

Croix Rouge Francaise  409 924  326 169  736 093  433 036  11 941  444 977 60.5%

Federatie COC Nederland  5 274  5 274 0.0%

Global Fund  637 290  332 566  969 856  461 046  18 345  479 391 49.4%

Institute of Nutrition of Central America and Panama (INCAP) 13 312  13 312  13 312  13 312 100.0%

MPTF Office  674 966  496 448 1 171 414  323 841  65 371  389 212 33.2%

M.A.C. AIDS Fund  64 179  64 179  57 200   236  57 436 89.5%

Pan American Health Organization  120 002  120 002  38 932  42 152  81 084 67.6%

Save the Children Fund  171 033  79 990  251 023  187 333  8 772  196 105 78.1%

UNDP  14 640  255 930  270 570  194 818  12 451  207 269 76.6%

UNFPA 1 657 792 1 995 649 3 653 441 2 028 622  289 231 2 317 853 63.4%

UNHCR  25 116  233 660  258 776  231 625  1 907  233 532 90.2%

UNICEF  8 759  18 000  26 759  1 198  1 337  2 535 9.5%

UNOPS  6 164  81 842  88 006  77 459   184  77 643 88.2%

WFP  578 314  578 314  79 661  79 661 13.8%

WHO  542 869  350 580  893 449  278 086  10 257  288 343 32.3%

Refund to donors and adjustments ( 549 112) ( 549 112) 0.0%

Miscellaneous and other  44 279  247 633  291 912  240 881   149  241 030 82.6%

Programme support costs and other 3 653 854 4 913 178 8 567 032 8 456 614  21 960 8 478 574 99.0%

Eliminations (4 913 178) (4 913 178) (4 913 178) (4 913 178) 100.0%

Total 62 519 417 81 600 125 144 119 542 72 548 010 6 185 647 78 733 657 54.6%

a/
 Encumbrance equals a firm commitment for goods and/or services which have not yet been delivered.
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Table 6. Country and regional expenses and encumbrance against all sources of funds  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (in US dollars) 
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Table 6 continued 

 
 
 
  

Expense Encumbrance  a/ Total Expense Encumbrance  a/ Total Expense Encumbrance  a/ Total 

Latin America and Caribbean
Regional Support Team, Latin 

America and Caribbean 4 497 287  57 042 4 554 328  207 947  1 337  209 284 4 705 234  58 379 4 763 612

Argentina  334 509  2 123  336 632  334 509  2 123  336 632

Brazil  478 734  64 354  543 087  359 951  42 388  402 339  838 685  106 741  945 426

Dominican Republic  163 190  9 768  172 958  285 132  40 867  325 999  448 322  50 635  498 957

El Salvador  129 789  4 922  134 712  129 789  4 922  134 712

Guatemala  377 498  2 402  379 901  18 722  18 722  396 220  2 402  398 622

Haiti  660 040  25 475  685 515  165 311  34 606  199 917  825 351  60 081  885 432

Jamaica  692 630  29 487  722 118  227 534  36 434  263 969  920 164  65 922  986 086

Peru  470 845  9 605  480 451  470 845  9 605  480 451

Venezuela  108 243  2 239  110 482  43 799  43 799  152 042  2 239  154 281

Total Latin America and Caribbean 7 912 765  207 418 8 120 183 1 308 396  155 632 1 464 028 9 221 162  363 050 9 584 212

Middle East & North Africa
Regional Support Team, Middle East 

and North Africa  19 615  19 615  19 615  19 615

Algeria  188 442  11 469  199 910  188 442  11 469  199 910

Egypt  99 227  5 652  104 879  206 971  23 027  229 998  306 198  28 679  334 876

Iran  374 490   100  374 590  482 666  482 666  857 156   100  857 256

Morocco  261 599  1 461  263 060  37 001   256  37 257  298 600  1 717  300 317

Sudan  116 592  14 000  130 592  116 592  14 000  130 592

Tunisia  58 050  5 831  63 880  58 050  5 831  63 880

Total Middle East and North Africa 1 118 015  38 512 1 156 527  726 637  23 283  749 920 1 844 652  61 795 1 906 447

West and Central Africa
Regional Support Team, West and 

Central Africa 8 972 959  72 459 9 045 419 1 107 561  522 246 1 629 808 10 080 521  594 706 10 675 226

Burkina Faso  396 049  14 512  410 561  396 049  14 512  410 561

Burundi  350 548  5 324  355 872  350 548  5 324  355 872

Cameroon  527 015  18 983  545 998  317 560  82 278  399 838  844 575  101 261  945 836

Central African Republic  497 173  2 506  499 680  514 570  42 601  557 170 1 011 743  45 107 1 056 850

Chad  547 574  63 082  610 656  63 611  1 593  65 203  611 185  64 675  675 859

Côte d'Ivoire  677 067  27 413  704 480  956 422  129 840 1 086 262 1 633 490  157 253 1 790 743

Democratic Republic of Congo 1 907 460  49 807 1 957 266  70 763  3 902  74 665 1 978 223  53 709 2 031 932

Equatorial Guinea  442 276  2 229  444 505  442 276  2 229  444 505

Gambia  78 929  1 756  80 684  78 929  1 756  80 684

Ghana  449 630  1 210  450 840  315 826  3 399  319 224  765 456  4 609  770 065

Guinea  328 729  20 982  349 711  26 207  26 207  354 935  20 982  375 918

Mali  533 992  18 804  552 796  99 655  7 395  107 050  633 647  26 200  659 846

Mauritania  109 484  1 863  111 347  109 484  1 863  111 347

Niger  179 858  14 349  194 206  179 858  14 349  194 206

Nigeria 1 291 632  36 395 1 328 027  569 758  53 835  623 594 1 861 390  90 230 1 951 620

Senegal  163 491  10 357  173 847  40 735  6 681  47 416  204 226  17 038  221 264

Sierra Leone  411 120   6  411 125  89 696  89 696  500 816   6  500 822

Togo  618 822  18 802  637 624  73 057  47 727  120 784  691 879  66 530  758 408

Total West & Central Africa 18 483 807  380 840 18 864 647 4 245 421  901 498 5 146 918 22 729 228 1 282 337 24 011 565

Grand Total 60 648 291 1 434 177 62 082 468 28 834 393 3 698 915 32 533 308 89 482 684 5 133 093 94 615 776

a/ 
Encumbrance equals a firm commitment for goods and/or services which have not yet been delivered.

Region Countries

 Unified Budget, Results and Accountability 

Framework 
Non -core Funds Total
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Table 7. 2024 Country envelopes: Details of funds transferred to Cosponsors at country level (in US 
dollars) 
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